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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China
Ocean Group Development Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETERE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | hereby present
the Annual Report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year"”) to
our shareholders.

RESULTS

The Revenue for the Group decreased for the Year to
approximately HK$225.9 million as compared to approximately
HK$298.7 million for the previous Year due to the continued
outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) and the relevant
anti-epidemic measures, including but not limited to, the increased
hygiene and sanitary inspections, especially for aquatic and
food products at the ports in Mainland China. As a result, it has
prolonged the time required for customs clearance. As such, it
has adversely affected the Company’s operations resulting in a
decrease in the revenue for the Year, because the customers were
more conscientious in placing their orders and the Group exercised
extra care on the selection of orders. The Group’s aquatic products
supply chain business generated a total revenue of approximately
HK$225.9 million as compared to HK$298.7 million last year, no
revenue arose from the fishing operation during the Year. The
Group has continued to develop business relationship with its
business partners and potential partners in the PRC in order to
increase and explore new sources of income. The Group continued
to concentrate on aquatic products during the Year.

The Group recorded a decrease in gross profit to approximately
HK$13.8 million in the Year as compared to approximately
HK$15.1 million in the previous Year. The Group will continue to
control the material costs and explore new business opportunities
so as to improve the gross profit of the Group. The gross profit
margin, decreased from 5.0% to 6.1% during the Year. Gross
profit margin of aquatic products from fishing operation were
generally higher than from supply chain operation.

AANERXEFE ([EFE ) ASKREZAR
AREMBAR (R AKEDBRE_T_=
FZA=ZT-HALEFE(XRFE])NFR-

&
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ERE BRI HKERRRER - AMERTE
FAFTERRRE - At - EEEHARRIEEEED
e mMERAFERARL AEFET
BREFZEMAEEFEZITERT AN A
& [BI7K EE fn L 8 25 7% B AE 4978 16225,900,000
TCRI AR W E - A& G R & B1298,700,0007T - AR
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Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$45.8 million as compared to approximately
HK$653.3 million in the previous year. During the Year, the
administrative expenses increased to approximately HK$43.9
million from HK$26.1 million last year which is mainly due to the
depreciation on fishing vessels which was still in the process of
obtaining its fishing license to commence the fishing operation.
The depreciation for fishing vessels increased from approximately
HK$2.5 million in the previous year to approximately HK$14.4
million during the Year. With the suspension of trading the
professional fees incurred for the resumption of trading increased
by approximately HK$8.2 million during the Year. In order to
contain the administrative expenses, the Group would continue
its implementation of cost-saving measures and streamlining of
administrative procedures. The major components in administrative
expenses being depreciation, legal and professional fee, salaries
and welfare for both staff and directors; rent and rates and
depreciation.

Included in the total assets, there were advance payments to
suppliers amounting to HK$355.9 million (31 March 2022:
HK$451.0 million); as a trading practice, the suppliers usually
require the Group to place a deposit to secure the supply of aqua-
products. The amount of deposit were made in accordance with
the supply contracts with the supplier, however, with reduction
in trading volume, some of these deposits were applied to the
settlement of purchases to the suppliers. The Group has performed
an expected loss assessment to write down the advance payment
to suppliers to its fair value.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Supply chain management and related services

The supply chain management remains the main focus of the
Group. The Group is providing intermediate service between
suppliers and customers and it takes advantage of the business
networks and resources in order to assist small and medium -
sized enterprises in various industries to minimise the overall
operation cost. Owing to the solid financial background of the
Group and the great demand for supply chain service in mainland
China, the Group has established many strategic partnerships with
other supply chain companies, so as to undertake the operation
of purchase and sales based on the services on import and export
trade, logistic, customs clearance and storage.

During the Year, the Group continued its supply chain management
services of aquatic products. The Group also expanded its
operation to vertically integrate with fishing subsidiaries to secure
the supply of aquatic products.

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETEHRSE (&)

PROSPECT

With the lead of the management team, the Company is actively
exploring business opportunities in other sectors to diversify risks
and broaden the sources of income of the Company. The Company
has adequate resources to continue with its business operations,
and will continue to focus on its corporate objective to develop
current businesses in order to strengthen its competitiveness,
integrate its capital resources and contribute a maximum wealth to
our equity holders.

The Company’s supply chain management business has been
adversely affected by the continuity of the outbreak of COVID-19
during the Year, however, the Company will pay close attention
to its performance and future development. At the same time,
the management will continuously monitor and review the overall
operation and financial performance of the Group’s businesses
so as to cope with the ever-changing business environment. The
management will continue to proactively seek other promising
investment and business opportunities to broaden the source of
income of the Group and enhance value to the shareholders of
the Company through investment and/or acquisitive business or
projects that have promising outlooks and prospects, and with
the Group’s management team having extensive experience in
the marine fishing business, the Group will also explore further
opportunities in the marine fishing business.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my gratitude to all members of the Board and staff for
their dedication and contribution to the Group and to those who
have supported us. We will continue to make our best efforts in
developing our businesses to produce good economic results and
better return for our shareholders.

Liu Rongsheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 August 2023
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Supply chain management and related services

The supply chain management service remains the main focus of
the Group. The Group is providing intermediate service between
suppliers and customers and it takes advantage of the business
networks and resources in order to assist small and medium -
sized enterprises in various industries to minimise the overall
operation cost. Owing to the solid financial background of the
Group and the great demand for supply chain service in mainland
China, the Group has established many strategic partnerships with
other supply chain companies, so as to undertake the operation
of purchase and sales based on the services on import and export
trade, logistic, customs clearance and storage.

During the year, the Group continued its supply chain management
services of aquatic products. The Group also expanded its
operation to vertically integrate with fishing subsidiaries to secure
the supply of aquatic products. Due to the of the continuity of
the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group had experienced difficulties
in the renewal of fishing licenses from overseas government
because fishing vessels inspection by PRC officials, which is one
of the pre-requisite for renewal, was unable to carry out due to
travel restrictions being imposed. As management was unable to
estimate the time required to recommence the existing overseas
fishing operation in the current overseas country, the management
began to seek for alternative overseas fishing grounds. The
management is also actively seeking for alternative procedures to
complete the fishing licenses renewal.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Revenue for the Group decreased for the Year to
approximately HK$225.9 million as compared to approximately
HK$298.7 million for the previous Year due to the continued
outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) and the relevant
anti-epidemic measures, including but not limited to, the increased
hygiene and sanitary inspections, especially for aquatic and
food products at the ports in Mainland China. As a result, it has
prolonged the time required for customs clearance. As such, it
has adversely affected the Company’s operations resulting in a
decrease in the revenue for the Year, because the customers were
more conscientious in placing their orders and the Group exercised
extra care on the selection of orders. The Group’s aquatic products
supply chain business generated a total revenue of approximately
HK$225.9 million as compared to HK$298.7 million last year, no
revenue arose from the fishing operation during the Year. The
Group has continued to develop business relationship with its
business partners and potential partners in the PRC in order to
increase and explore new sources of income. The Group continued
to concentrate on aquatic products during the Year.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwmRDMN (&)

The Group recorded a decrease in gross profit to approximately
HK$13.8 million in the Year as compared to approximately
HK$15.1 million in the previous Year. The Group will continue to
control the material costs and explore new business opportunities
so as to improve the gross profit of the Group. The gross profit
margin, decreased from 5.0% to 6.1% during the Year. Gross
profit margin of aquatic products from fishing operation were
generally higher than from supply chain operation.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$45.8 million as compared to approximately
HK$653.3 million in the previous year. During the Year, the
administrative expenses increased to approximately HK$43.9
million from HK$26.1 million last year which is mainly due to the
depreciation on fishing vessels which was still in the process of
obtaining its fishing license to commence the fishing operation.
The depreciation for fishing vessels increased from approximately
HK$2.5 million in the previous year to approximately HK$14.4
million during the Year. With the suspension of trading the
professional fees incurred for the resumption of trading increased
by approximately HK$8.2 million during the Year. In order to
contain the administrative expenses, the Group would continue
its implementation of cost-saving measures and streamlining of
administrative procedures. The major components in administrative
expenses being depreciation, legal and professional fee, salaries
and welfare for both staff and directors; rent and rates and
depreciation.

Included in the total assets, there were advance payments to
suppliers amounting to HK$355.9 million (31 March 2022:
HK$451.0 million); as a trading practice, the suppliers usually
require the Group to place a deposit to secure the supply of aqua-
products. The amount of deposit were made in accordance with
the supply contracts with the supplier, however, with reduction
in trading volume, some of these deposits were applied to the
settlement of purchases to the suppliers. The Group has performed
an expected loss assessment to write down the advance payment
to suppliers to its fair value.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Outlook

The Company’s supply chain management business has been
adversely affected by the continuity of the outbreak of COVID-19
during the Year, however, the Company will pay close attention
to its performance and future development. At the same time,
the management will continuously monitor and review the overall
operation and financial performance of the Group’s businesses
so as to cope with the ever-changing business environment. The
management will continue to proactively seek other promising
investment and business opportunities to broaden the source of
income of the Group and enhance value to the shareholders of the
Company through investment and/or acquiring business or projects
that have promising outlooks and prospects, and with the Group’s
management team having extensive experience in the marine
fishing business, the Group will also explore further opportunities
in the marine fishing business.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$936,916,000 (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$1,027,470,000), including bank balances and cash equivalent
of approximately HK$4,129,000 (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$1,554,000).

As at 31 March 2023, there was general banking facilities granted
to a subsidiary of the Group of RMB59,766,000 (31 March 2022:
RMB53,760,000) of which RMB54,266,000 (31 March 2022:
RMB53,760,000) was utilised. Excluding the above banking
facilities, during the Year, the Group financed its operation mainly
with its own working capital and proceeds from the issue of
placing/subscription shares and borrowings.

As at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio (defined as the ratio
between total bank borrowings and total assets) was approximately
6.58% (31 March 2022: 6.46%). The Group’s total bank
borrowings as at 31 March 2023 was HK$61,667,000 (31 March
2022: HK$66,370,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwmRDMN (&)

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES

On 21 April 2022, the Company has completed the subscription
agreement IV and VI and the Subscription Shares IV and VI
of 150,000,000 new Shares and 200,000,000 new Shares,
respectively, (an aggregate total of 350,000,000 new shares)
were issued to Subscriber IV, and VI at HK$0.10 per Subscription
Share (the “Partial Completion”).The net proceeds received by the
Company from the Partial Completion were utilised as repayment
of borrowings and general working capital of the Group as stated
in the Announcement.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and related
hedges

Most of the transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar (“HKD") and Renminbi (“"RMB”). The Group adopts a
conservative treasury policy with most of the bank deposits being
kept in HKD, or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries
to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risks. As at 31 March
2023, the Group had no foreign exchange contracts, interests or
currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purposes.

Significant investment, material acquisitions and disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no significant investments,
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies during the Year.

Charge on Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no charge on assets (31
March 2022: nil).

Contingent liabilities

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no contingent liability as at
31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 43 (31 March 2022: 59)
employees including the Directors. Total staff costs (excluding
Directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$6.0 million
for the Year, as compared to approximately HK$8.2 million in 2022.
Remuneration is determined by reference to market terms and the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee.
Year-end bonus based on individual performance will be paid to
employees as recognition of and reward for their contributions.
Other benefits include contributions to statutory mandatory
provident fund scheme to its employees in Hong Kong and basic
insurance for the elderly, basic medical insurance, work injury
insurance and unemployment insurance to its employees in the
PRC.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets and
their expected sources of funding in the coming year

Save as disclosed in the “Outlook” above, the Group has no future
plans for material investments or capital assets in the coming year.

Contractual arrangements

One of the business segments under development by the Group
is the marine fishing business which would be operated under the
contractual arrangement. This business was acquired by the Group
in December 2016. The following graph shows the structure of the
Group conducting this business as at 31 March 2023:
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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AR H]
The Company
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Super Heritage Limited
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Golden Thai Marine
Products Group Limited (HK)
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R E7 PN AR e ()
Registered owners Shenzhen Yuheng Trade
Mr. Hong Maoji (100%) Management Co., Ltd
(PRC)
100% i 100%
3 (
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(under contractual arrangement)
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(WPER)
Jin Yu Tang (Shenzhen)
Fishery Co., Ltd.
(PRC)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Under this business, the operators are required to obtain the
license (i.e. Far Ocean Fishing Enterprise issued by the Agricultural
Department (B IR FRENLZE)) to conduct its business.
Jin Yu Tang is the operating subsidiary of the business holding
the License. If Shenzhen Yuheng Trade Management Co., Ltd
("Shenzhen Yuheng”) directly interested in the equity interest
in Jin Yu Tang, there will be a change in enterprise nature of
Jin Yu Tang and that the benefits and tax concessions from the
fishing operations that Jin Yu Tang is eligible to participate will be
restricted. Therefore the existing fishing operations that Jin Yu Tang
could undertake beyond the permitted scope mentioned above will
probably be affected.

Therefore in order to obtain the effective control on Jin Yu Tang
and the right to enjoy the economic benefits in the business and
assets of Jin Yu Tang, Shenzhen Yuheng has entered into a set
of control agreements (the “Control Agreements”) with Jin Yu
Tang and the existing shareholder which remains effective since
1 December 2016. The Control Agreements comprise (a) Loan
Agreement; (b) Share Charge Agreement; (c) Exclusive Purchase
Agreement; (d) Shareholder’s Power of Attorney Agreement; (e)
Cooperation Framework Agreement; (f) Technical Support Service
Agreement; and (g) Technical Research Service Agreement. Set out
below are the major terms and other relevant information of the
Control Agreements executed amongst Shenzhen Yuheng, Jin Yu
Tang and its respective shareholder and directors:

(a) Loan Agreement

Pursuant to the loan agreement executed on 1 December
2016 (the “Loan Agreement”), an interest free loan of
RMB15 million will be provided by Shenzhen Yuheng to
the existing shareholder of Jin Yu Tang, with no fixed
term of repayment. The loan is secured by a charge of the
shareholdings in Jin Yu Tang.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwmRDMN (&)

(b) Share Charge Agreement

(c)

16

Pursuant to the share charge executed on 1 December 2016
(the “Share Charge Agreement”), the existing shareholder of
Jin Yu Tang pledged his entire equity interests in Jin Yu Tang
to Shenzhen Yuheng, he will convey to Shenzhen Yuheng
all his interests in the dividend and distributions for securing
the repayment obligations of the shareholders of Jin Yu Tang
under the loan agreement.

Pursuant to the PRC rules, in the event that Jin Yu Tang goes
into liquidation, Shenzhen Yuheng as the beneficial owner of
the charged share interest has the priority in recovering the
repayment of the loan.

Exclusive Purchase Agreement

For the purposes of obtaining the rights to purchase all
(or part) of the equity interest and/or asset in Jin Yu Tang,
Shenzhen Yuheng entered into an exclusive purchase
agreement on 1 December 2016 (the "Exclusive Purchase
Agreement”) with the shareholder of Jin Yu Tang, pursuant
to which, an irrevocable and exclusive right was granted
by the shareholder to Shenzhen Yuheng (or its nominee) to
purchase all (or part) of the shareholders’ equity interest in
Jin Yu Tang. The consideration will be determined based on
the minimum amount of consideration as permissible under
the then PRC laws and regulations or, in case of equity
interest, the value of the registered capital.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Purchase Agreement, unless
with a prior written consent from Shenzhen Yuheng, the
shareholder of Jin Yu Tang would not vote in favour of
any resolutions in relation to any decision on the sale,
assignment, transfer or any other method of dealing with the
equity interest of Jin Yu Tang.

(b)

(c)
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(d)

(e)

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Shareholder’s Power of Attorney Agreement

Pursuant to the shareholder’'s power of attorney agreement
executed on 1 December 2016 (the “Power of Attorney
Agreement”), Jin Yu Tang shall appoint the person(s)
nominated by Shenzhen Yuheng as directors to the board
of directors of Jin Yu Tang thereby creating an effective
control on the board of directors of Jin Yu Tang. In addition,
Shenzhen Yuheng has the right to remove directors, the
general manager and legal representatives of each of Jin Yu
Tang and replace them with its nominees as it thinks fit.

The shareholder of Jin Yu Tang undertook to Shenzhen
Yuheng that as the shareholder of Jin Yu Tang, he irrevocably
assigned his voting rights to Shenzhen Yuheng (or such
other person as directed by Shenzhen Yuheng) and to vote in
accordance with the directions of Shenzhen Yuheng on any
resolution proposed at a general meeting of the shareholder
of Jin Yu Tang.

In addition, Shenzhen Yuheng is authorised to exercise the
shareholders’ rights in Jin Yu Tang including exercise of voting
rights, rights to nominate directors of Jin Yu Tang, the rights
to sell or transfer all or any of their respective shareholding in
Jin Yu Tang.

Cooperative Framework Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive cooperative framework agreement
executed on 1 December 2016 (the “Cooperative Framework
Agreement”), Shenzhen Yuheng will set up a management
committee with Jin Yu Tang, and both parties will occupy
two positions. Shenzhen Yuheng will provide technical
research and technical support services for deepwater aquatic
products to Jin Yu Tang, in return for service fees. The
proportion of service fees will eventually be determined by
the management committee in accordance with the agreed
terms of the Cooperative Framework Agreement. Shenzhen
Yuheng may, at its sole discretion, terminate Cooperative
Framework Agreement upon giving one month's written
notice in advance to Jin Yu Tang at any time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwmRDMN (&)

)]

(9)

Technical Support Service Agreement

Pursuant to the technical support service agreement executed
on 1 December 2016 (the “Technical Support Service
Agreement”), Jin Yu Tang will receive technical support
services from Shenzhen Yuheng, which includes: business
system and management technology, business technology,
customer service technology, services permitted by PRC laws,
etc. Jin Yu Tang shall pay technical fee and any other costs
arising from technical fee on a monthly basis during the
terms of the Agreement. The fee is 100% of the monthly
income, and the total monthly fee should not exceed 100%
of the monthly income.

Technical Research Service Agreement

Pursuant to the technical research service agreement
executed on 1 December 2016 (the “Technical Research
Service Agreement”), Jin Yu Tang will obtain technological
research and development services from Shenzhen Yuheng
to assist Jin Yu Tang in developing the application software
required for the operation of fishing business, and will pay
monthly service fee to Shenzhen Yuheng. The service fee is
based on a certain proportion of the revenue from the service
of Jin Yu Tang.

In accordance with the terms of the Control Agreements,
Shenzhen Yuheng is able to govern the financial and operating
policies of Jin Yu Tang and Shenzhen Yuheng can enjoy all of the
economic benefits of Jin Yu Tang because:

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

the board of directors of Jin Yu Tang is controlled by
Shenzhen Yuheng pursuant to the shareholder’s Power of
Attorney Agreement;

the general meeting of Jin Yu Tang is controlled by Shenzhen
Yuheng pursuant to the shareholders’ Power of Attorney
Agreement; and

all the benefits arising from the entire equity interests in Jin
Yu Tang is entirely conveyed to Shenzhen Yuheng pursuant
to the Share Charge Agreement, Cooperative Framework
Agreement and Loan Agreement.

The Group believes that, notwithstanding the lack of equity
ownership, the Control Agreements give the Group control over Jin
Yu Tang in substance. Accordingly, Jin Yu Tang is accounted for as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the business of marine fishing
is not yet commenced by Jin Yu Tang and it is principally engaged
in supply chain management services business.

Risk of the contractual arrangement

There is inherited risk of the contractual arrangement. The Group
has no equity ownership interest in Jin Yu Tang and it relies on
contractual arrangements to control and operate the business
of Jin Yu Tang under the Control Agreements. However such
contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing
control over Jin Yu Tang as compared with direct ownership
since (i) there is no assurance that the Control Agreements could
comply with future changes in the regulatory requirements in
the PRC; (ii) these contractual arrangements will not preserve
Shenzhen Yuheng's control in the occurrence of certain events
which may be outside the control of Jin Yu Tang and its respective
shareholders; and (iii) potential conflicts of interest between the
Group and Jin Yu Tang and its respective shareholders exists and
whether the shareholders and directors of Jin Yu Tang will act
completely in the interest of the Group is outside the control of
the Group. Any of the above may materially and adversely affect
the validity, effectiveness and enforceability of the control of the
Group and Shenzhen Yuheng on Jin Yu Tang and its respective
shareholders. Any inability, or limitation on Shenzhen Yuheng’s
ability to enforce the contractual arrangements with the Jin Yu
Tang and its respective shareholders or to take any legal remedies
under the PRC law could disrupt the business and have a material
adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations and
prospects of this business. Whether such conflicts of interest could
be effectively managed or otherwise be resolved in the favour of
the Group and its subsidiaries will be crucial to the effectiveness
of contractual arrangements. In the event the disagreement and
dispute cannot be resolved under friendly negotiation and proceed
to arbitration, there is no guarantee that the final decision under
arbitration would be in favour of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In order to mitigate the risk of the contractual arrangement, the A#ZMANTHER AEBEEN_T—KF
Group has since its acquisition of this business in December 2016  + = A UEE I Z S B FREUA N - LARE(R
implemented the following measures to ensure the sound and ¥ :RiEE LA ICEE:

effective operation of the Control Agreements:

- the Board has nominated its representatives to Shenzhen  —

Yuheng and Jin Yu Tang to ensure that there is a continuous
and effective control over Jin Yu Tang’'s operation and
management. The Group has also obtained the directors’
undertaking as detailed above;

- suitable management has been assigned to Jin Yu Tang —

to report regularly to the Board for review in relation to
major issues arising from implementation of the Control
Agreements;

- suitable reporting system in line with the Group’s financial —

reporting practice in the PRC have also been in place to
ensure that the Group would have full access and control
over the book and record of Jin Yu Tang and to obtain
periodic financial information to ensure proper financial
record are kept;

- the proper record system for shareholders’ meeting and —

directors’ meeting of Jin Yu Tang has worked effectively
and will continue to be in place, and a copy of these notice
for meeting and resolution will also be passed to Shenzhen
Yuheng and the Group before and after the meeting to keep
the Group informed on all important development of Jin Yu
Tang; and

- the Group has worked closely and will continue to work — —

closely with the PRC legal advisors and the management of
the Jin Yu Tang on the update of rules and regulations of
the PRC to monitor the continue compliance of the rules and
regulations by Jin Yu Tang as to its conduct of business and
contractual arrangement.
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In the event if the PRC government further release the restriction  { B BT INE A BEITE TS ESBMmE

on far ocean fishing operation to be undertaken by foreign

—THRERS AEBFHRRITEIZENHET Z

company, the Group will as soon as possible exercise the exclusive JEHRIEWEE FTE 2 BEIRETHEKR S LIZRE-

right under the Control Agreements to acquire the direct equity
interest in Jin Yu Tang and unwind the contractual structure.
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Biographies of Directors and Company Secretary

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Rongsheng, aged 61, is an executive Director and
chairman, the Company and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. He completed a professional programme in
International Economics and Trading from Beijing Training
University of Economics and Technology* (4t AL 3 i o4& E2
Bt ), the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) in 1998. He also
holds a qualification as a senior economist in the PRC. Mr. Liu has
over 25 years of experience in import and export trading, logistics,
corporate strategic management, project management and finance
business.

Mr. Cai Haipeng, aged 37, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer, graduated from Shenzhen University with a
bachelor’s degree in communication engineering. He is currently a
director of Shenzhen Mingren Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (&I
SRR EEE AR 2 ) ) Mr. Cai has served as a director of a China
joint-stock securities company, responsible for operations and risk
control compliance matters. He has held management positions
in various companies in China since 2011 and has extensive
experience in corporate management. Mr. Cai is the brother of Mr.
Cai Haiming, an non-executive director of the Company.

Mr. Fan Guocheng, aged 56, is an executive Director. He
graduated from Beijing Foreign Studies University with a major
in professional accounting in July 2019 and graduated from
Guangzhou Financial Higher Special School (currently known as
Guangdong University of Finance and Economics) in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"”) in 1988. He is an accountant and
holds an accounting qualification certificate issued by Shenzhen
Finance Bureau. Mr. Fan has accumulated nearly 30 years of
extensive experience in financial management and has held various
positions relating to financial management, accounting and
financial accounting in many different industries in Shenzhen.

Ms. Wei Qing, aged 39, is an executive Director. She completed a
professional programme in Law from Shenzhen University in 2010,
Ms. Wei worked in &3 7K B, the Shenzhen Water Authority*,
from 2010 to 2013 and also acted as a vice chairman of Shenzhen
Hydraulic Engineering Society in 2013 and was responsible for its day-
to-day administration work. In September 2013, Ms. Wei established
three trading companies which are principally engaged in import and
export trading and retail services, such as electronic products, wines
from Europe and the United States, and health care and cosmetics
products from Japan.
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Biographies of Directors and Company Secretary (Continued)

EERLAMERE (&)

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lui Chun Pong, aged 55, is a non-executive Director. He
obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Hong
Kong, a Master of Laws degree from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong, a Master of Accountancy degree from Charles
Sturt University in Australia and an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from the City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lui is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, an associate member of the Taxation Institute of
the Hong Kong and a Certified Tax Advisor in Hong Kong. He is
also an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Mr. Lui held senior positions at a number of Hong
Kong companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lui was an executive director of Hsin
Chong Group Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and delisted 31 December 2019), from September
2015 to December 2016 and was redesignated to non-executive
director from January 2017 to November 2018. Mr. Lui has over
29 years of experience in financing and accounting, fund raising,
mergers and acquisitions, company flotations, and real estate
business development. Mr. Lui also serves the community through
his participation in promoting sports and youth and student’ affairs
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lui was a baseball coach and was appointed as
a team secretary and a deputy delegate leader of the Hong Kong
Women's Baseball Team during the Women’s Baseball World Cup
in 2006 and in 2014. In respect of public services rendered to
youth and students’ affairs, Mr. Lui is a leader of various leadership
mentoring programs in Hong Kong United Youth Association,
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong Kong
Professionals and Senior Executives Association. Mr. Lui was a
director of Hong Kong United Youth Association in 2014/2015
and a member of the Budget Proposal 2017-18 Subcommittee
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lui is currently a member of the Hong Kong Student Affairs Sub-
committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Cai Haiming, aged 36, is an non-executive Director. He
graduated from Guangdong University of Finance, Department
of Finance. He is currently the chairman of Shenzhen Mingren
Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* ORI EAICITREEBR AT ) since
2017 Mr. Cai has over six years' experience in financial investment,
resource integration and capital operations. He was a Corporate
Manager at two China joint-stock banks in Shenzhen from 2012
to 2015. Mr. Cai is the brother of Mr. Cai Haipeng, an executive
director of the Company.
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Biographies of Directors and Company Secretary (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John, aged 51, is an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of each of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. He is a member of Standing Committee of National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shenzhen Futian District (FE ARBIAHE
e FYIMEAEEZ), Shenzhen and an expert juror of the
First batch of Hong Kong Expert Jurors of Qianhai Court. Mr.
Kam holds the degree of Master of Business Administration from
PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University in China, Master
of Business Administration from The University of Manchester in
the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kam has
over 20 years’ experience in corporate, personal and interbank
business. Mr. Kam has been the co-CEO of DTXS Silk Road
Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. since March, 2022. He was the
Senior Partner of Shenzhen Zhujin Supply Chain Management Co.
Ltd. from November 2018 to February 2022. He was appointed
as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of Century
Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited from 2 May 2017 to October
2018 and was Zone Manager — Corporate Banking Division and
General Manager of Shenzhen Branch of The Bank of East Asia
(China), Limited from July 2012 to March 2017 and Zone Manager
(Western China) — Corporate Banking Division and General
Manager of Xi’an Branch of The Bank of East Asia (China), Limited
from November 2006 to June 2012.

Mr. Liu Qiang, aged 38, is an independent non-executive
Director, holds a master’s degree from China University of Mining
and Technology-Beijing. He holds the title of engineer. Served
successively in China National Materials Group Corporation
Ltd, Aviation Industry Corporation of China Ltd, China Science
and Technology Development Investment Holding Group Co.,
Ltd.* (FETEEEZEREEBR AE), and successively
served as deputy general manager of Zhonghe Zhong (Beijing)
Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.* (A0 (4 57) N ER
AR A7), executive deputy general manager of AVIC Energy
Cambodia Company* (H#ise/REEHE A A), and Executive
Director of Zhongke lJianye Energy Development Co., Ltd.* (#
Rl ZaERMEAGR A7) and many other positions. From April
to July 2018, he served as executive director and chairman of the
board of directors of Dinghe Mining Holdings Limited, and was
appointed as the vice president of Asia Television Holdings Limited
in August 2018. He has participated in and organized a number of
cross-border investment projects, and has substantial experience in
mergers and acquisitions, multinational operations, blockchain and
other fields.
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Biographies of Directors and Company Secretary (Continued)

EERLAMERE (&)

Mr. Li Cao, aged 36, is an independent non-executive Director
and member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He graduated from China
Youth University of Political Studies with a bachelor’'s degree in
international trade and is currently studying at the Graduate School
of Renmin University of China. Mr. Li has been employed in a
managerial capacity at various corporations in the PRC since 2009,
and has considerable management experience. He is currently
the office director of Shenzhen City Technology and Innovative
Enterprises Service Centre* (RIITMEIAIDEBKEF L), and
the chief secretary of each of the Shenzhen Ocean Society and
Shenzhen Ocean Industry Association.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Chi Ming, Francis, aged 64, has over 30 years of
experience in the field of financial and general management. Mr.
Lam is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Lam obtained a Bachelor's degree of Arts in
Economics and Social Studies from the University of Manchester.
Mr. Lam was the company secretary and/or financial controller of
several companies of which shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
since October 1991 and had extensive working experience in an
international accounting firm.

* for identification purposes only
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The Directors of the Company hereby present the annual report
and the audited financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 43
to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
reporting segments and geographical areas of operations for the
Year is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in this annual report on pages
74 and 75.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) did not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year and
the material factors underlying its financial performance and
financial position can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
6 to 8 and pages 9 to 20 respectively. Details of the Company’s
share option scheme are provided in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statement. An analysis of the Group’s financial risk
management objectives and policies is provided in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements. An indication of likely future
development in the Company’s business is set out on page 11 of
the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. No important event
affecting the Group has occurred since the end of the Year.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE (&)

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published result of the Group
for each of the last five financial years and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group as at 31 March 2023,
2022, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

UWTAREERIAENBRFEFESF 2B HIEE
ERAREBR T —_=F —FE-_—F . _F——

F CE-TFR-F-AF=A=t-ANE
B BERGEEREREE

Consolidated results mEXEE
Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=t-HLEE

(In HK$°000) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
(UEETTAE) “E-=§  CZT--f CZTCZEE T-1F ZE-N\F
Continuing operation RESEEK
Revenue e 225,855 298,744 621,723 826,513 960,595
(Loss)/profit before taxation from SRR LR A

continuing operation wHl/ (E8) (50,007) (657,031) (377,705) 35,640 47,079
Income tax expenses FEREY (8) (177) (2,563) (3,216) (503)
Discontinued operations BRIEER
(Loss)/profit for the year from BRIFER

discontinued operations EREN/ (B8R - - 556 - -
(Loss)/profit for the year ERRN (BE) (50,015) (657,208) (379,712) 32,424 46,576
Attributable to: AN AT

Equity holders of the Company AR ABREREA (5,753)  (653,280) (377,799) 28,029 43,668

Non-controlling interests FERER (4,262) (3,928) (1,913) (1,270) 2,908

(50,015) (657,208) (379,712) 26,759 46,576
Consolidated assets and liabilities and non-controlling BEEENREBRIFERER
interests
As at 31 March
R=RA=+-H

(In HK$000) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
(WM TFTAER) “E-=f -—E-C —T-FF Z-NE ZE-N\F
Total assets BEE 936,916 1,027,470 1,544,594 1,716,622 1,693,051
Total liabilities mafk (448,177) (501,168) (474,795) (439,420) (400,924)
Non-controlling interests R ER (48,601) (52,863) (56,791) (58,704) (59,974)

440,138

473,439 1,013,208 1,218,498 1,232,153
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability.
The Group’s commitment to protect the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in our daily business operations. The Group's
business is subject to national, provincial and local environmental
laws and regulations of the PRC. During the Year, so far as the
Directors are aware, there were no material breach of applicable
environmental laws and regulations of the PRC that have a
significant adverse impact on the business and operations of the
Group.

The Group also encourages environmental protection and promote
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees.
The Group adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing. It
implements green office practices such as double-sided printing
and copying, setting up recycling bins, promoting using recycled
paper and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle
lightings and electrical appliance.

The Group endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, waste reduction
and energy saving. The Group will review its environmental
practices from time to time and will consider implementing
further eco-friendly measures and practices in the operation of
the Group’s businesses to move towards enhancing environmental
sustainability.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with
such requirements could lead to the suspension or termination of
operating licences. The Group has been allocating system and staff
resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations
and to maintain cordial working relationships with regulators
effectively through effective communications. For the Year, the
Group has complied, to the best of the directors’ knowledge, with
all relevant rules and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE (&)

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are reasonable
remunerated and also continues to improve and regularly review
and update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers. A
customer complaint handling mechanism is in place to receive,
analyse and study complaints and make recommendations on
remedies with the aim of improving service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and conducts a
fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers on an annual basis.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO THE GROUP’S
BUSINESS

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the
Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to
those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability
to meet business objectives arising from the movement in market
prices. The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people and systems or from external
events.

Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
every function at divisional and departmental levels. Key functions
in the Group are guided by their standard operating procedures,
limits of authority and reporting framework. The management
will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.
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Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of
losses relative to the expected return on any particular investment.
Key concern of investment framework will be balancing risk and
return across different investments, and thus risk assessment
is a core aspect of the investment decision process. Proper
authorisation system has been set up and detailed analysis will
be made before approving investments. Regular updates on the
progress of the investments of the Group would be submitted to
the Board.

Manpower and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and
retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required
skills, experience and competence which would meet the business
objectives of the Group. The Group will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.

Financial Risk

The Group’s also faces financial risks including interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of these
financial risks are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENT

Details of movements in the Company’s issued share capital are set
out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Convertible Bonds “, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into during the Year or subsisted at the end of the
Year.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in Management Discussion and Analysis, the
Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and investments during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Except for subscription of new shares disclosed in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Company did not
redeem any of its listed shares, nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase or sell any such shares during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 78 to 79 of the annual report and in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the convertible bonds of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statement.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, no reserves of the Company were available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie (2022: Nil),
as computed in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. In addition, the Company’s share premium account had a
balance of approximately HK$1,571,131,000 as at 31 March 2023
(2022: approximately HK$1,539,631,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 100% (2022: 100% of the total revenue
for the Year. Revenue attributable to the largest customer
accounted for 60% (2022: 72%) of the total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 100% (2022: 100%) of the total purchases for the
Year. Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier or accounted for
100% (2022: 55%) of the total purchases for the Year.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors or any
of their close associates nor any Shareholders which, to the best
knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Rongsheng (Chairman)

Mr. Cai Haipeng (Chief executive officer)
(appointed on 9 September 2022)

Mr. Fan Guocheng

Ms. Wei Qing

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lui Chun Pong
Mr. Cai Haiming

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John
Mr. Liu Qiang
Mr. Li Cao

In accordance with bye-laws 84(1) and (2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-laws”), Mr. Cai Haiming, Mr. Lui Chun Pong
and Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John will retire from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM"). All the above retiring Directors, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election thereat.

The Company confirmed that it has received from each of
its independent non-executive Directors the annual written
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules and considered them to be independent as at
the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND COMPANY SECRETARY’S
BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the Directors and Company Secretary of
the Group are set out on pages 21 to 24 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive directors and the
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one to three years
commencing from the date of appointment and will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s notice in writing to the other party.

Save as aforesaid, none of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company, which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Details of the transactions during the Year between the Group and
connected persons (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) in which a
Director has beneficial interest are set out in the section “Related
Party Transactions” of this report and note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group
to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year, nor was there
any transaction, arrangements or contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
a controlling shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
any of its subsidiaries for the Year. There was also no contract of
significance between the Company or one of the subsidiaries and
the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except otherwise disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no transactions incurred during the
Year which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the Year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals
with the highest emoluments for the Year are set out in notes 8
and 9 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option scheme is set out note 25 to
the consolidated financial statement.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Scheme since its adoption.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the business of the
Group.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses, which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any taxation relief available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong (the “SFO")) which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO
(including interest or short positions which they had taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the securities transactions by directors were as
follows:
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Long position in the Shares B ZHE
Approximate
Number percentage of
of ordinary issued share
Name of Director Capacity Shares held capital
HEBTRA
EEfA g4 HEEBEREA BAE
Ms. Wei Qing (Note 1) Beneficial owner 68,124,000 1.12%
B+ (Mfat1) EnEAA 68,124,000 1.12%
Mr. Fan Guocheng Beneficial owner 800,000 0.01%
SEEL 5 A EHEAA 800,000 0.01%
Mr. Cai Haiming Beneficial owner 150,532,857 2.47%
giEEELE EnEAA 150,532,857 2.47%

Notes: B et -

(1) Ms. Wei Qing is beneficial interested in 57,768,000 shares through
Sunny Sky Capital Management Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were required: (a) to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
he is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities transactions by
directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under paragraphs headed “Directors and Chief
Executive’s Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
and “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or of any other body
corporate granted to any Directors or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors, their respective spouses or children under 18
years of age to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of persons
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company, or substantial shareholders as recorded
in the register of substantial shareholders required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares BozHE

Approximate
Number percentage of
of ordinary issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares held capital
HEBTRA
RREE/EBEH 4% KEEEREA BAES
Liu Yi Beneficial owner 724,292,000 11.91%
e EREAA 724,292,000 11.91%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to % EXFRIFEEN RZ_E_=F=A=+—H"

any Directors, none of any persons had an interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or, who was directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other
members of the Group, or any other substantial shareholders whose
interests or short positions were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 March 2023, no other person
is individually and/or collectively entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at the general
meetings of the Company and are able, as a practicable manner, to
direct or influence the management of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, there is a sufficient public float of the issued Shares (i.e. at
least 25% the issued Shares being held by the public) as required
under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the Year and thereafter up
to the date of this report.

DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations were made by the Group during
the Year (2022: Nil).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year under review and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders or
substantial shareholders or their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company had an interest
in a business which competed with or might compete with the
business of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on page 39 to page 52 of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company sets up an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
on 18 October 2001, with written terms of reference in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules, for the purpose of reviewing and
providing supervision over the financial reporting process and
internal control of the Group. The Audit Committee presently
comprised the three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John as the chairman of the Audit
Committee, Mr. Lam Man Hing and Mr. Li Cao. During the Year,
the Audit Committee held four meetings to review and supervise
the financial reporting process, and to provide advice and
recommendations to the Board.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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The financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the opinion that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards,
as well as the Stock Exchange’s and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

Having been approved by the Board upon the Audit Committee’s
recommendation, a resolution to re-appoint Elite Partners CPA
Limited as the auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there have been no change of the
independent auditors for the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Liu Rongsheng
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 August 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) and Corporate
Governance Report contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the Year. The Company has applied the principles
in the CG Code and complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code for the Year, save and except for the following:

In accordance with the CG Code provision A.2.1, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing. During the year, up to 9
September 2022, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company are performed by Mr. Liu Rongsheng. On
9 September 2022, Mr. Cai Haipeng was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made a specific enquiry with all the Directors,
each of them confirmed that he/she had complied with such
code of conduct and the required standard of dealings regarding
securities transactions throughout the Year.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EXERBE (HF)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is responsible for the Group’'s corporate policy
formulation, business strategies planning, business development,
risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial
matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board to the management include the preparation of
annual, interim and quarterly financial statements for the Board’s
approval before public reporting, execution of business strategies
and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk man agement procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules
and regulations. During the Year and up to date of this report, the
Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Rongsheng (Chairman)

Mr. Cai Haipeng (Chief executive officer)
(appointed on 9 September 2022)

Mr. Fan Guocheng

Ms. Wei Qing

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lui Chun Pong
Mr. Cai Haiming

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John

Mr. Liu Qiang

Mr. Li Cao
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Directors’ biographical information is set out on pages 21 to
24 of this annual report. All Directors have given sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Group. Each executive Director
has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out
his/her duties effectively and efficiently. Save as disclosed above,
there is no financial, business, family or other material relationship
among the members of the Board.

The Company appointed three independent non-executive
Directors who have appropriate and sufficient experience and
qualifications to carry out their duties so as to protect the interests
of Shareholders. Each of them has been appointed for a term of
three years commencing on the date of appointment, which will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving the
other not less than one month's notice. Every Director should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and is eligible for re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has received written confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of his/her independence. Based on such
confirmations of independence, the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Board meets on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter is

required.

During the Year, 8 Board meetings and a SGM were held.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CEELRHRSE (F)

Details of the attendance of the meetings of the Board members

during the Year are as follows:

Name of Directors

Expd

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Rongsheng (Chairman)
Mr. Cai Haipeng

Mr. Fan Guocheng

Ms. Wei Qing

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lui Chun Pong
Mr. Cai Haiming

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John
Mr. Liu Qiang
Mr. Li Cao
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each newly
appointed Director would have comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction upon appointment, so as to ensure that appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and operations and be
fully aware of the responsibilities and obligations under the GEM
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. The Directors
are continually updated on the legal and regulatory developments,
as well as business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. All Directors during the reporting period
have participated in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills through suitable
trainings. The participation in such trainings is to ensure that their
contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EXERBE (HF)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board values diversity as a factor in selecting candidates to
serve on the Board, and believes that the diversity which exists in
its composition provides significant benefits to the Board and the
Company.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which relates to the selection of candidates for the Board.
The Board believes that a key success factor of an effective Board
is that it comprises a range and balance of skills, experience,
knowledge and independence, with individuals that work as
a team. The Board Diversity Policy was adopted to ensure that
diversity in its broadest sense continues to remain a feature of the
Board.

The Nomination Committee has been delegated with the
responsibilities for the review of the Board Diversity Policy on an
annual basis.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In accordance with the CG Code provision A.2.1, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing. During the year, up to 9
September 2022, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company are performed by Mr. Liu Rongsheng. On
9 September 2022, Mr. Cai Haipeng was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out below:

a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

¢)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the employees and
the Directors; and

e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out below:

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’'s affairs. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The written terms of reference for each of the Board committees
named above are in line with the GEM Listing Rules and are
posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CEELRHRSE (F)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in January 2006
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee presently comprises two members,
all being independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kam
Hou Yin, John, serving as the chairman and Mr. Li Cao.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board for its final determination on the
specific remuneration packages of all Directors, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the Year
to review the remuneration package of the Directors and senior
management. Details of the attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings are as follows:

Members

K&

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (chairman)

Mr. Li Cao TRREE
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the senior

management of the Company for the Year are set out in notes 8
and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision of B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual

remuneration of the senior management (other than the Directors)
for the Year by band is set out below:

Remuneration bands (in HK$S)

Nil to 1,000,000

AR ()

Z %1,000,000
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Number of
individuals

A

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 23 March
2012 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee presently comprises three
members, namely Mr. Liu Rongsheng, an executive Director, serving
as the chairman, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Kam Hou Yin, John and Mr. Li Cao.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of the Directors
and succession planning for the Directors. The Board takes into
consideration criteria such as the expertise and experience of the
relevant candidates, the market situation and applicable laws and
regulations when considering new director appointments.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the Year to
review the structure and composition of the Board as well as
the Board Diversity Policy and made recommendations on the
appointment and re-appointment of retiring Directors. Details of
the attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings are as
follows:
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EXERBE (HF)

Members

KE

Mr. Liu Rongsheng (chairman)

Mr. Li Cao TRpEE
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John SEBRE

Number of
meetings
attended/
Eligible to
attend
Bk
EERHE
ZEE¥E

BRERE (FE) 11

11
171

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company set up an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
on 18 October 2001, with written terms of reference in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules, for the purpose of reviewing and
providing supervision over the financial reporting process and
internal control of the Group. The Audit Committee presently
comprised the three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John as the chairman of the Audit Committee,
Mr. Li Cao and Mr. Liu Qiang. During the Year, the Audit
Committee held six meetings to review and supervise the financial
reporting process, and to provide advice and recommendations to
the Board.

The financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the opinion that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards,
as well as the Stock Exchange’s and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

ERERAKRE (&)

Number of

meetings

attended/

Eligible to

Members attend
Bk

EERHE

24 ZEEYE
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (chairman) CEBEE(FE) 717
Mr. Liu Qiang GBSt 7/7
Mr. Li Cao RS 3/7

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the first and
third quarterly results and interim results for the Year, the annual
results of the Group for the Year and the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and recommended to the Board
for considering the re-appointment of independent auditor at the
2023 AGM.

The annual results for the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee at its meeting held on 23 August 2023 before
submission to the Board for approval. The members of the
Audit Committee considered that the results were prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting standards and the GEM
Listing Rules and sufficient disclosure had been made.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

It is the external auditor’s responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on the consolidated financial
statements and to report their opinion solely to the Shareholders,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act and for no other purpose. They do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
content of the auditor’s report.

During the year, the fees charged by the Company’s auditors,
Elite Partners CPA Limited for the statutory audit and non-audit
assignments of the Group for the year amounted to approximately
HK$3,530,000 and Nil respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Chi Ming Francis is the company secretary of the
Company. During the year, Mr. Lam has duly complied with
relevant professional training requirements in accordance with Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EXERBE (HF)

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining the Group’s internal
controls and risk management for reviewing the effectiveness of
these controls annually. Internal control systems are designed to
meet the particular needs of the Group and the risk to which it is
exposed.

In consideration of the size of the Group, the Board does not
consider to establish an internal audit team at present. However,
the key control procedures established by the Group are day-to-day
supervision of the business by the executive Directors, supported
by the managers responsible for the operation and the key division
support functions of finance, information system and human
resources. The key elements of internal controls described below
have been in place throughout the Year:

- procedures for the approval of capital expenditure and
payments;

- regular financial information provided to management for
reviewing the Group’s performance;

- clearly defined management structure and lines of
responsibility.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Under the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a SGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. Within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board should proceed to convene such meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company or put
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The contact
details are as follows:

The Company Secretary
China Ocean Group Development Limited

Address: Room 03, 22/F, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Fax No.: 852-3956 4882

To put forward proposals at an AGM or a SGM, the Shareholders
shall submit a written notice of those proposals with detailed
contact information to the Company Secretary at the above
address.

The request will be verified with the Company’'s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon its confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board
to include the proposed resolution in the agenda for the general
meeting.

PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO SEND ENQUIRES
TO THE BOARD

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, fax number, email address and postal
address, in order to enable them to make any query that they
may have with respect to the Company. They can also send their
enquiries to the Board through these means. The contact details
of the Company are provided in this report, the “Corporate
Information” section of this annual report and the Company’s
website.

The Board welcomes views of Shareholders and encourages them
to attend general meetings to raise any concerns that they may
have with the Board or the management directly. Board members
and appropriate senior staff of the Group are available at the
meetings to answer any questions raised by Shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EXERBE (HF)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group for the Year. In preparing
the financial statements, the generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong have been adopted, appropriate
accounting policies have been used and applied consistently, and
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquires to the Board or the Company
may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, there were no changes in the Company’s
Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Scope and Reporting Period

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report
of China Ocean Group Development Limited (the Company, and
together with its subsidiaries referred as the Group), highlighting
its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made to the
ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 20 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

This ESG report covers the Group’s overall performance in two
subject areas, namely, Environmental and Social of its key business
operation, supply chain management, which account for 100%
of the Group’s revenue in Hong Kong and Shenzhen offices from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (“Reporting Period”), unless
otherwise stated. The ocean fishing business is excluded from the
scope due to its relatively insignificant contribution to the Group’s
revenue.

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality

In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to
report on for this ESG report, key stakeholders have been involved
in regular engagement sessions to discuss and review areas of
attention. Major shareholders are engaged during the annual
meeting whose opinions will help the business meets its potential
growth and be prepared for future challenges.

Stakeholders’ Feedback

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email at info@chinaoceangroup.com.hk.

The Group’s Commitment to ESG

Supply chain management is the core business focus of the Group
during the Reporting Period. The Group offers middle-party service
between suppliers and customers with extensive business networks
and resources, assisting SMEs in various industries to minimize
their overall operating costs. The Group’s innovative industrial
chain integrated platform is an enterprise combining intellectual
capital, financial capital, resource capital and dynamic supply chain
technology capital. The Group is proactively exploring business
opportunities in undeveloped regions while managing to deploy
resources in a more appropriate and effective manner.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRE dEaRERERE (&)

Being a listed company, the Board of Directors is committed to
achieving profit targets, leading with actions by being socially
responsible, making efficient use of resources, and helping to
create a brighter future. In the future, the Group will consider
driving more ESG-related initiatives forward by integrating ESG
strategies into daily operations.

The Group has maintained a close attachment to the industry
bodies and taken the role in the relevant trade organization. As
a member of the Chinese Society for Oceanography, the Group is
able to exchange ideas on marine science and technology, foster
collaborations with other industry bodies and keep track of the
marine environment.

A. Environmental

The supply chain business of the Group mainly involves
the matching of suppliers and customers in the aquatic
product industry. As a non-manufacturing company, the
Group and its daily operations generated minimal impact
on the environment. Nevertheless, the Group integrated
environmentally friendly practices into its daily operation,
nourishing a responsible and green office environment.

The Group strictly abides by laws, rules and regulations
enforced by Hong Kong and the PRC in relation to
environmental protection and pollution control, including but
not limited to the followings:

o Waste Disposal Ordinance, Chapter 354 of the Laws of
Hong Kong;

. Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Chapter 358 of the
Laws of Hong Kong; and

. Environmental Protection Law of the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, no material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
was recorded.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE HEBERERRE (F)

Emissions

A1.1 Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, petrol was used as
fuel for Group-owned passenger cars for business
purposes. The combustions generated several air
emissions including sulphur oxides (SOx), nitrogen
oxides (NOx) and respiratory suspended particles (PM).

Mobile fuel source

Petrol i

Al. HERY
A1.1 BERHEM

RERA - NEEBEXHH
Bz BBERMBERR UM R
EEZRERFN BRERAL
- REYRRENY -

Air emissions (non-GHG) from

SOx (kg)

W&
(F%)

the vehicle
REBRER (FRERE)
NO, (kg) PM (kg)
ALY ERY
(F=) (F=)
0.90 0.07

0.03

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group's
business operation contributed to 42.86 tonnes
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO,eq) (mainly
carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide) of
greenhouse gas (GHG), with an emission intensity
of 0.04 tCO,eq/m? of total office area.

Emission Sources
HBRR

Scope 1 Direct GHG emission

ERIEREEREEN PRFMGERE U
Scope 2 Energy indirect GHG emission  Purchased electricity
BER2EFEEREREHN BE
Scope 3 Indirect GHG emission Paper waste disposed at landfill
SE3MEEEREEN RERRREHNES
Freshwater and sewage processing
KRR
Business air travel
BEMEEIR

Total GHG emissions

BERBA

A1.2 B ER B (GHG)HE K

Fuel combustion for mobile sources - petrol

RBREIAR AEBMEREE
iER42.86M8 — ELIRE EHER
(FEE2EA &t -FHRE—F
EZR) BREEABRRAE
HE0.04ME — AL EE ¥ 7
}%o

GHG Emission
(tCOeq)  Total GHG Emission (%)
BERBHH BEGEHNAE
(ME-EtHREEs) (KB HE)
1.26 17.31
27.91 66.53

0.43
6.35 16.16

0.00
41,95 100

Note 1: Emission factors were made reference to
Appendix 20 of the Listing Rules and their referred
documentation as set out by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, unless stated otherwise.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE HEBRERKRE (F)

56

A1.3 Hazardous Waste
The Group’s business operation did not involve
the generation of any significant hazardous
waste, hence no information is presented in this
report.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Non-hazardous wastes generated from the Group
were mainly paper waste and general office
waste. During the Reporting Period, a total of
1.38 tonnes of commercial non-hazardous waste
had been generated. Since the amount of waste
paper was minimal, the waste paper was mostly
kept at offices for recycling and other usages.

A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group advocates the idea of green commuting
and encourages employees to take low-carbon
transport. When the Group rents cars for business
purposes, fuel-efficient and electric cars are of
higher priority than traditional cars. Whenever
vehicles are purchased for business purposes,
fuel efficiency and reliability of such vehicles
are considered when they are being selected to
minimize the Group’s fuel consumption and the
emissions of air pollutants.

A1.6 Wastes Handling and Reduction Initiatives
Non-hazardous wastes including office waste
are disposed of at the building refuse collection
point for further handling. Recycling bins
with clear instructions are provided within the
offices for centralized collection of waste paper.
Employees are reminded to print paper on both
sides and reuse recycled papers for draft works.
Paper saving tips are also placed next to copier
machines as reminders. With the Group’s effort
in promoting paper-saving practices, a total of
0.09 tonnes of paper had been reused within the
offices.

A2. Use of Resources

Although the Group has not established formal policies
on the efficient use of resources, it is committed to
encouraging employees to observe resource conservation
practices.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE HEBERERRE (F)

A2.1 Energy Consumption A2.1 BEFE
During the Reporting Period, 63,906 kWh of RS BN 863,906 T R
energy, with an intensity of 56.0 kWh/m?, was B8 E A56.0T L FH
consumed. The sources of energy were mainly KoBEREZRAMAZEHERA
purchased electricity for the offices and petrol for BREMAR M
vehicles.
2022/23 2021/22 2020/21
-2/ Z®B=-—/ ZBZT/
—=F == —_—F
Electricity Consumption (kWh) 47,014 38,378 47,036
el Ae (TRE)
Energy Intensity (kWh/m?) 41.21 33.64 41.23
BEREE (TRE/FHK)
Petrol Consumption (kWh) 20,655 25,528 31,403
b AE (TR)
Energy Intensity (kWh/m?) 18.11 22.38 27.5
BEREE (TREFHK)
Diesel Consumption (kwWh) 0 0 0
L AE (TRE)
Energy Intensity (kWh/m?) / / /
BEREE (TRE/FHK)
A2.2 Water Consumption A2.2 AKX
Water supply and discharge in the Hong BB RO MK EPE R B RE
Kong office were managed by the building EREEIE  WEAESHBEE
management office, therefore respective data oA EEIENE HE
is not available. However, it is noteworthy BREKEWLTEK-

that the water consumption of its operation is

insignificant.
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The Group’s water consumption in the Shenzhen
office was sourced from the Shenzhen Water
Authority. A total of 572 m? of freshwater was
consumed, with a water intensity of 0.70 m3/m?
of total office area.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group aims to maximize the use of daylight
to reduce consumption from excessive lighting.
Energy efficient electrical appliances with Grade
1 energy labels under the Mandatory Energy
Efficiency Labelling Scheme by the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department of Hong Kong,
were prioritized during procurement. In the Hong
Kong office, a central air-conditioning system is
used and managed by the building management
office. In the Shenzhen office, the Group actively
implements energy-saving initiatives, such as
setting the air conditioner temperature at 23°C
or above. Employees are reminded to switch off
unnecessary electronic appliances and devices
before leaving the office.

A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives
Although the Group’s business operation did not
involve significant use of water, it treasures water
resources and avoids water wastage by reusing
water for plant watering.

A2.5 Packaging Materials
The Group’s business operation did not involve
the use of packaging materials, henceno
information is presented in the report.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the
Environment
Overall, the environmental impact of the business
operation is not significant. Nevertheless, the Group
pays great attention to the impacts caused by climate
change. Although the Group has no written policy
on managing the environment and natural resources,
with a supply chain business model, the Group strives
to operate in a manner consistent with environmental
protection. The Group will continue to act responsibly
to attain business growth while making every
effort to minimize the use of resources and related
impacts posed to the natural environment, as well as
complying with relevant laws and regulations.
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RE HEBERERRE (F)

Social B. #&g
1. Employment and Labour Practices 1. EEREIER
B1. Employment B1. {EfE
B1.1 Total Workforce B1.1 &% & H
The Key Operations had a total number of HE2_Z2_=—ZF=ZA
43 employees as of 31 March 2023, all of =+—H ZEEBKELE
which worked full-time. The total workforce B43%EE BHERE -
sorted by gender, age group, job grade and TR FEAR - BAR
geographical region is shown below. Bl K b 8 B D M 42 &5 B) )
HylmTe
Distribution of Employees by
Distribution of Employees by Age Geographical Region
RFERAREDNEES M RBEESHES DM

m 18-253% m 26-35% W 36-455% ® Mainland China ® Hong Kong
" 46-554 © 56 or Above ;Pf@ﬁqiﬂz j:&%b y
SGﬁEiLLU: rica am‘ odla
FEM TR %€
Distribution of Employees by Job Grade Distribution of Employees by Gender
ERREINEEDMH REBIESHEE DM

W Senior Management
1 A L B Male B Female
B Middle Management B B/
AR TG
% Forntline and Other Staff
AR B T R HoAh
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The Group stringently complies with
national and local laws and regulations
in relation to employment and labour
practices, including but not limited to the
followings:

Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong;

. Labour Law of the PRC;

. Labour Contract Law of the PRC; and

° Social Insurance Law of the PRC.

The Group ensures that all employees are
fully aware of the terms and conditions of
employment and shall comply with the relevant
Laws of Hong Kong and the PRC as far as
they may be applicable in conjunction with the
personal policies. No material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations in relation to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare of the Group was
recorded during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s Staff Handbook details comprehensive
information regarding hours of work, rest days,
probation, termination, salary administration,
various types of leave and applications, fringe
benefits (medical scheme, MPF, compensation
insurance, reimbursement on expenses incurred
on behalf of the Group). To create a sense of
belonging and camaraderie in the workplace,
the Group arranges birthday parties and outdoor
activities like hiking for employees.

Employee Performance Appraisal

Annual performance appraisal is conducted
with employees to evaluate their performance
and identify areas of improvement which helps
them in achieving with potential and tackling
areas. It is the Group’s policy to offer internal
promotion to employees, whenever possible,
depending on the availability of the vacancies
and their appraisal results.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Equal Opportunity

The Group ensures that employees are
not discriminated against on gender, age,
marital status, ethnic background, religion,
nationality and disability, and they shall have
equal opportunity in terms of employment
and recruitment decisions.

Turnover

A total of 6 employees left the Group during
the Reporting Period, contributing to an
overall turnover rate of 10.2%. The Group
offers equitable and market-competitive

BRE - dEaREREE (&)

FEHE

A% B TR E B R R
B R BRI
R RH DERBES
B MR - 1E 7 RN
REHBTEFEHRE -

B1.2 ABR%k
RBmEEHR NEELE6
ZREBER BRERAEXA
10.2% - AL B R H A F
K ATISHF 0 EH A

BAT

100%

remuneration packages to attract and retain B AR S| K
talents.
Turnover Rates
iR
Part-time
Employment Type el 0%
EEEH Fulime
g
Cambodia b
I 7%
Africa o
E2T] 21%

Geographical Region

HE Fongkone I 14%
Mol I 58%
Female 0,
L 26%
Gender Male
4 31 Ak 74%
SorAbove I 269
seRE L I 26%
sessi I 23%
Age 36-455% 26%
i
26-35% 19%
18-25i% 7%
Frontline and Other Staff
il S Hofth B T 49%
idd|
Job Grade Middle Maneeon I 21%
RERA Senior Management 5
gy I 30%
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Number of employees resigned during the reporting period

R & A G BrES A B

*Turnover rate (%)

90% 100%

*TERFE(%) Number of employees as at the end of the reporting period

R &R 1B B A&

x 100%
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

B2.1

B2.2

Work Injuries

No work injury cases or material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations about
occupational health and safety of the Group was
recorded during the Reporting Period.

Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2021/22
Work-related fatality

Work injury cases >3 days

Work injury cases <3 days

Lost days due to work injury

Occupational Health and Safety
Measures

The Group dedicates to maintaining a
safe, hygienic and productive workplace
by minimizing the potential risks of work-
related accidents and injuries as well as
promoting work-life balance. To tie in
with the Group’s Occupational Health and
Safety Policy, the Group is committed to
providing a safe working environment
and to complying with relevant laws and
regulations. Safety measures are reviewed
and improved regularly and internal safety
training is provided to all employees. In
return, employees are required to take
reasonable care for the health and safety
of themselves and others, and shall report
to the department head immediately if any
unsafe conditions have been identified and/
or have occurred.

To promote health and wellbeing, the
Group organizes recreational activities for
employees in the Shenzhen office on a half-
yearly basis. Air purifiers are installed to
keep dust, dirt and impurities out of offices;
air conditioning filters are cleaned quarterly
and replaced whenever needed.
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B3.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Fire safety is also ensured through regular fire
drills and maintenance of electrical and fire
equipment. Fire extinguishers and fire escape
routes are placed at the workplace. Fire
drills arranged by the building management
office are performed from time to time to
strengthen employees’ fire safety knowledge.

Development and Training

The Group provides career training and development
opportunities to employees in accordance with their
growth potential and job interest. To familiarise
employees with the corporate culture, induction
training is arranged for new employees. To
equip employees with the knowledge and skills
necessary for their job duties, to meet business
growth and expectations, and to catch up to the
most recent market trends, the Group provides
training opportunities for every level of employees,
internally as well as in collaboration with external
organizations. This ensures that all employees are
sufficiently competent to carry out their duties.

The Group actively promotes effective corporate
governance by arranging the senior management
and supervisors to attend various seminars
conducted by regulators and other professional
organizations, on topics such as best practices
and advice on corporate governance, sensitive
information related to stock price, risk management
and the latest listing regulations.

B3.1 Percentage of Employees Trained
During the Reporting Period, none of the

Group’s employees received training due to
COVID-19 restrictions.

B3.2 Average Training Hours Completed Per
Employee
The total training hours delivered and the
average training hours received were 0 hours

and 0 hours per employee respectively, due
to COVID-19 restrictions.
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B4.

Labour Standards

The Group has strict recruitment procedures
to prevent child or forced labour. The Human
Resources Department of the Group is responsible
for implementing and reviewing all matters related
to recruitment, remuneration standard, training
and development, and other benefits, making sure
the Group complies with applicable national and
local labour laws and regulations including the
Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong and the Labour Law of the PRC.

All employees are required to submit certificates and
personal information before the commencement of
employment. Background checks are performed to
review the identities, qualifications and employment
background of candidates in the recruitment process
to prevent om recruiting child or forced labour.

Operating Practices

B5.

Supply Chain Management
B5.1 Number of Suppliers

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had
engaged with 4 major suppliers, 3 of
which were from the PRC and 1 from Hong
Kong. They sourced and supplied a range
of aquatic products to the aquatic trading
business unit of the Group.

B5.2 Practices Relating to Engaging Suppliers

Environmental and social performance
have been integrated with key criteria
when choosing quality and stable supply
chain buyers. A standardized procedure
has been established for fixed pricing and
order flow, creating a sophisticated business
relationship between the demand side and
suppliers. Suppliers are selected through
a tendering process to achieve the best
quotation and maintain the highest standard
for products and services.
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B6.

B7.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Product Responsibility

The Group dedicates to delivering quality products
that meet customers’ satisfaction. Its contract
requires suppliers to recall defective products if
any are found. No material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations regarding health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters associated with the Group’s products
and services was recorded during the Reporting
Period.

The Group highly respects property rights
(including intellectual property) and privacy.
Employees shall comply with laws and regulations
applicable to locations where the business
operates on the collection, holding, processing,
disclosure and use of personal data.

The money lending subsidiary obtained licenses
as money lenders enforced by the Money
Lenders Ordinance, Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong. Specified money lending policy and
procedures had been formulated and executed
in its daily operation. Customer due diligence
had been performed to verify the identities of
customers and the associated risks.

Anti-corruption

The Group has set out rules, ethics and disciplines
to fight against corruption. Employees may
not solicit or accept, without the approval of
the Company, for their benefit or advantage,
in money or any other forms, from customers,
contractors, suppliers or any other persons
having business relations with the Group as
in inducement to or reward for doing or not
doing an act with the business of the Group.
All employees shall declare advantages and gifts
offered by suppliers or customers. If the employee
is found guilty of misconduct such as theft, fraud,
dishonesty, serious neglect of duty, habitually late
for duty or any conduct considered prejudicial
to the Group, the employee will be summarily
dismissed or will be warned of the offence
committed either verbally or in writing prior to
any disciplinary action.

B6.

B7.
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B8.

The Group complies with all applicable laws
and regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC on
prohibiting bribery and corruption, including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, Chapter
201 of the Laws of Hong Kong. There was no
material non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations regarding bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering recorded, and no concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or employees during the
Reporting Period. The Group will continuously
assess and monitor the Group’s management of
bribery and corruption to ensure that appropriate
procedures and measuresare in place.

Community Investment

The Group has not participated in any community
investment in the Reporting Period. The Group
will consider potential focus areas and resources
for community contribution in the next Reporting
Period.
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elite
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders of
China Ocean Group Development Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Ocean Group Development Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on
pages 76 to 204, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUZEEMHE (F)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$45,753,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and as of that date, the Group had net
current assets of HK$241,393,000 and the Group’s current portion
of borrowings amounted to HK$156,356,000, while its cash bank
balances and cash equivalents amounted to HK$4,129,000. These
conditions along with the current situation as set forth in note 2,
which indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in
our report.

FRBFERE CERTHBERSE

BM%E BTEIRAYBHREMGE2 S5
T BEEEREE-—E-_=F=-A=+—H1I%=E
EEYEY BERABEBAELNBBEAOAE
45,753,000 AREZEZ A E£EEERD
BEFREBE241,393,000T ) BEEEEEZR
a4 &5 55%156,356,0000T c MERITIRSE
ERUANIR S EEY AR B4,129,0007T ° ZE ik
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUZEMHEE (&)

RRELEHE(E

Impairment assessment on trade receivables, loan and interest receivables and other receivables

PEWUIR K - BB E R R R B LA R H At B W RRIR 2 BB R 1

As at 31 March 2023, the net carrying amounts of trade
receivables, loan and interest receivables and other
receivables amounted to approximately HK$300,654,000,
HK$14,411,000 and HK$316,117,000 respectively.
RZZZ=F=A=+—H BRER BREZEFE
VA T2 H i FE WK TR 2 AR TEDF FE 9 Bl & #9781 300,654,000
7T 75 #14,411,0007T & & %316,117,0007T ©

Management judgment is required in assessing and
determining the recoverability of trade receivables,
loan and interest receivables and other receivables
and adequacy of allowance made using the expected
credit losses ('ECL"”) model under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments”.
ERERANBREEEMBRELNFSR eI AIE
AEBEEEE ([TAHEEEE]) KA RET RK
BRR -~ FE W R R B A B L At JE W R TR 2 AT W [0 14 A K
PRET IR B 2 78 R ME A VB U I B o

We had identified impairment assessment on on trade
receivables, loan and interest receivables and other
receivables as a key audit matter because the assessment
of the recoverability of trade receivables, loan and interest
receivables and other receivables and recognition of
loss allowance are inherently subjective and requires
significant management judgment, which increases the
risk of error or potential management bias.

HAPIE W BR TR - B E R B A K B Aty FEU IR 2
MEF LB RBARERER REKN BN &
W B AR R ) B DA B L A M R TR 2 AT k1 R R RS 4R
BEAE TAAFEHN YREEREEHERAE 1t
Mg MRS BEEIRER B RER -

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment on
trade receivables, loan and interest receivables and other
receivables included:

A B BB IR SR - FEULE SRR FI B LA K B b FE UGR IR 2
WE G2 IRFBRE:

o We discussed with management and independent
external valuer engaged by the Group in relation to
the methodology, basis and assumptions used to see
whether the methodology and assumptions used
were reasonable and appropriate;

e HMBEEBENK BRRIZEMNBEIMELEERM
TR A BRERRER - AREMA R ERRHK

REAEIEE:

o We checked the accuracy, appropriateness and
reliance of the input date used; and

o  BfMEPABABIRNERL BE MR EL:
)53

o We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer taking
into account its experience and qualifications.

o BMAEBIINEER ) REBIER 88
Higwm R &R

We considered the management’s conclusion to be
consistent with the available information

BPRREEEMIFERERAERAENT -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUZEEMHE (F)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE AND FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

HER
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUZEEMHE (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safegaurds applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Wai Nam, William with Practising
Certificate Number P05957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
10/F., 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

23 August 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

RETEWBHER

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bitax BET T BT T
Revenue from contracts with BEEE#H WG
customers 6 225,855 298,744
Cost of services rendered and cost of RERBEZKAREEERZ
goods sold DS (212,068) (283,692)
Gross profit EF 13,787 15,052
Other income HAtnug A 6 4,266 14,906
Administrative expenses THRX (43,856) (26,052)
Net impairment loss reversed/ FEUWER R 2 B E & 18
(recognised) on trade receivables | (HER)FHE 1,634 (373,225)
Net impairment loss recognised on H A W IR (E B R R R HE
other receivables - (35,916)
Impairment loss on property, plant and %% - BiE R B EREEE
equipment - (2,125)
Impairment loss on construction-in- EEIRZRBERSE
progress - (25,927)
Net impairment loss reversed/ W E R & BT B AR
(recognised) on loan and interest BE (HR)FRE
receivables 822 (6,886)
Write off of construction-in-progress EE TR - (165,940)
Gain on change in fair value on S AREZ A FEEE W E
contingent consideration payable - 1,774
Loss from operations REEKER 7 (23,347) (604,339)
Finance costs B iR (23,325) (29,696)
Share of results of an associate Sh—REEE R EEE (3.335) (22,996)
Loss before taxation BrREATE I8 (50,007) (657,031)
Income tax expenses Frig®if 10 (8) (177)
Loss for the year FREBE (50,015) (657,208)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

HeErzEWER (F)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETTT
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FREMEE(FEXR) W -
income for the year:
Item that may be reclassified RIERIREEM PR EBm AR -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on FERZERERE
consolidation (22,548) 31,759
(22,548) 31,759
Total comprehensive expenses for FRAZEMAXELE
the year (72,563) (625,449)
Loss for the year attributable to AT AT E(SFREE
— Owners of the Company S VNGIEZZ= DN (45,753) (653,280)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (4,262) (3,928)
(50,015) (657,208)
Total comprehensive expenses UTATEREEZEMSZ2E -
attributable to
— Owners of the Company —ARBEEA (68,301) (621,521)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (4,262) (3,928)
(72,563) (625,449)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted HARN#E HK(0.75) cents HK(12.76) cents

AL 7Bl
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI EE

At 31 March 2023
R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=H —_E__F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
et BT T BET T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB NRERE 13 250,953 5,365
Construction-in-progress rEITE 14 - 265,968
Interests in an associate NN o ey 15 15,098 20,062
Loan receivables and loan interest FWE R LEWE TS
receivables 17 - 13,544
Prepayments, other receivables and FERTRRIE - Ho th JE UGRIE 2
other assets HEmEE 16 35,554 35,554
301,605 340,493
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables J7E Lk B R R L Ath R L 3k 16 616,771 682,024
Loan receivables and loan interest FEWE R R EWE TR &
receivables 17 14,411 3,399
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 18 4,129 1,554
635,311 686,977
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables JRE A B S50 B L At JRE 1P 3K 19 202,976 227,536
Deferred income PEIEUTA 21 6,112 985
Bank loans RITER 20 5,417 5,225
Borrowings BE 20 156,356 111,950
Contingent consideration payables SRR AB 22 12,855 -
Tax payable FE T8 10,202 9,997
393,918 355,693
Net current assets MENEEFE 241,393 331,284
Total assets less current liabilities BEERLBAR 542,998 671,777
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

REMBRRBER (F)

At 31 March 2023

RZTE_=ZF=ZRA=+—H

2023 2022
—E=H —_E__F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bitax BET T BT T
Non-current liabilities FREAE
Deferred income EREWA 21 45,787 59,059
Borrowings BE 20 - 64,689
Corporate bonds NafEH 23 4,495 4,551
Contingent consideration payables S ARME 22 - 12,855
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAE 27 3,977 4,321
54,259 145,475
NET ASSETS EERE 488,739 526,302
Capital and reserves BARFEE
Share capital i 24 60,837 57,337
Reserves w1 379,301 416,102
Equity attributable to owners of the RARER AL
Company 440,138 473,439
Non-controlling interests FEFE R 48,601 52,863
TOTAL EQUITY HEmBHE 488,739 526,302

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
23 August 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Liu Rongsheng

Bkt

Chairman
FE

W_E—=

FNAZ+T=ZAREFTSHENRE
T3 WHIA TEERREE

Fan Guocheng

Director

EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERZERDR

Year ended 31 March 2023

BE-_ZT-=F=ZA=+t—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG DN L'
Reserves
1
Non-
Share Share  Contrbuted ~ Exchange  Accumulated Total controling
pital  premium surplus eserve [osses Tesenes Subtotal interests Total
(In HK$'000) (WEBTTAEN) Bx RGEEE S EH%  EXRE  ZHER BiE N SHERER ait
(note ()
(W)
At 1 April 2021 RZE--%@A-H 49137 1,465,879 594,707 1,773 (1,098488) 963871 1,013,008 56,791 1,069,799
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (653280) (653,280) (653280)  (3928)  (657,208)
Other comprehensive income Efr2EhE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ Efé & B HEERHAIED -
profit or loss:
Exchange difference on consolidation BABERESE - - - 31,759 - 31,759 31,759 - 31,759
Total comprehensive income (expenses) for the A2 E Wz (B ) 2%
year - - - 31,759 (653,280)  (621,521)  (621,521) (3,928)  (625,449)
Transactions with equity holders HREGEARTZRS
Issue of shares upon subscription RREMETRA 8200 73752 - - - 73752 81,932 - 81,9%
8,200 73,752 - - - 13,752 81,952 - 81,952
At 31 March 2022 R-E--E=ZR=1-H 57,337 1,539,631 594,707 33532 (1,751,768) 416,102 473,439 52,863 526,302
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
RERRBSHR (F)

HEZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

Year ended 31 March 2023
E-F-A=+—HILEE

KAREEAEL
Reserves
i
Non-
Share Share Contributed  Exchange Accumulated Total controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve losses  reserves  Subtotal  interests Total
(In HK$'000) (WEBTTREN) Ba  RGEE S B% EXRE RAER BRE Nt FERER fit
(Note)
(W)
At 1 April 2022 RZE-—#MA-H 57,337 1,539,631 594,707 33532 (1,751,768) 416,102 473,439 52,863 526,302
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (45753)  (45753)  (45753) (4262  (50,015)
Other comprehensive expenses Eft2EEX
Item that may be reclassified subsequently of ~ Efé A& EH HEEBHAIER -
profit or loss:
Exchange difference on consolidation GARVEREE - - - (22,548) - (22548)  (22,548) - (22,548)
Total comprehensive income (expenses) for the — FRZ2ERE(FF) 8%
year - - - (22,548)  (45,753)  (68,301)  (68,301) (4,262)  (72,563)
Transactions with equity holders HRESEARTZRS
Issue of shares upon subscription REEMETRA 3500 31,500 - - - 31500 35000 - 35000
3,500 31,500 - - - 31,500 35,000 - 35,000
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=E=/=1-H 60,837 1,571,131 594,707 10,984 (1,797,521) 379,301 440,138 48,601 488,739
FEIS¥EERREERAT 2022-2023FH 79



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
REEZEEHR (F)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_-F-A=-+—HLEFE

Note:

(ii)

80

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

The laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") require wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC
("WFOE") to provide for certain statutory reserves, namely general
reserve, enterprise expansion fund and staff welfare and bonus fund
which are appropriated from the net profit as reported in the PRC
statutory accounts.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, which are WFOE, are required
to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax profit to the general
reserve until the reserve has reached 50% of its registered capital.
The general reserve can only be used, upon approval by the relevant
authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital. The
enterprise expansion fund can only be used to increase capital upon
approval by the relevant authority. The staff welfare and bonus fund
can only be used for the welfare of the employees of the subsidiaries
in the PRC. Appropriation to the enterprise expansion fund and staff
welfare and bonus fund is at the discretion of the board of directors
of the subsidiaries in the PRC.

The subsidiaries in the PRC incurred after-tax losses and therefore no
transfer to the statutory reserve was made for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

GEE

(ii)

China Ocean Group Development Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BERETRER

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
izt BET T BT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Loss before taxation PRI ATETIE (50,007) (657,031)
Share of results of an associate DE—REE R EEE 3,335 22,996
Depreciation of property, plant and Y RE MR EITE
equipment 14,437 3,220
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE - 190
Write off of/Impairment loss on of TR EME, REESE
construction in progress - 191,867
Net impairment loss (reversed)/ JE U BR BB B 18 (BB, HER
recognised on trade receivables FEE (1,634) 373,225
Impairment loss on other receivables H A R IE R E 5 1E - 35,916
Impairment loss on loan and interest FEWE 5 % AT FI BB B 18
receivables (822) 6,886
Write off of/Impairment loss on property Y12 - k= K % &R EEE
plant and equipment - 2,125
Interest income FEMA (1 (1M
Finance costs BB R 23,325 29,696
Gain on change in fair value change of ENARE 2 A FEZSHI
contingent consideration payables - (1,774)
Waiver of other payables R E A T FIR - (6,963)
Changes in working capital BEESEY
Trade and other receivables JRE M2 B 5 % EL A R R 20,816 (108,512)
Loan receivables FEWE R 2,180 (1,540)
Trade and other payables JE AT BR R R ELAth FE A< 50 (34,089) 49,361
Deferred income B A (3.369) (985)
Cash used in operations KEEBRARE (25,829) (61,324)
Income tax paid SAFER (190) (168)
Net cash used in operating activities L& ZEFfTARSFEE (26,019) (61,492)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

RERERER (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

2023 2022
—E-=F T F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bitax BET T BT T

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETER
Interest received 2R & 1 1
Purchase of construction in progress BEEETRE (15,625) (123)
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BEREH

equipment (15) -
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBTARSF5E (15,639) (122)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEED
Interest paid [=ENEIES) (6,702) (11,549)
Proceeds from shares issued EFTEL S M a1 TR PT1S

upon new placing SRIA SRR 35,000 81,952
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENAERE 2 EXRE S 18(b) - (197)
Net proceeds from borrowings EEME AT 18(b) 4,545 8,543
Repayment of borrowings BREE 18(b) (18,033) (51,021)
Net cash generated from financing BEZEFERSFEE

activities 14,810 27,728
Net decrease in cash and cash REeRREEZEURL FE

equivalents (26,848) (33,886)
Cash and cash equivalents at REMNESRREEEY

beginning of reporting period 1,554 9,656
Effect on foreign exchange rate INEEE RSB 2 2 R

changes, net 29,423 25,784
Cash and cash equivalents at end of HREHMKRBERBLSEEY -

reporting period, represented by BRITHERRRE

bank balances and cash 4,129 1,554
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Ocean Group Development Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in Bermuda on 7 June 2001 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Bermuda Companies
Act of 1981. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is located at
Room 03, 22/F, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are business of
supply chain management services and ocean fishing.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

mEMBRRMEE

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 2.

STATEMENTS (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for contingent consideration
payables that is measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are translated at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

J Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$") which is also the functional currency of
the Company. The majority of the Company’s subsidiaries are
operating in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") with
RMB as their functional currency.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 August 2023.

Going concern assessment

The Group has incurred a loss attributable to owners of
the company of approximately HK$45,753,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2023 and operating cash outflow
of approximately HK$26,019,000. As at 31 March 2023,
including the Group’s cash and bank balances were
approximately HK$4,129,000. As at 31 March 2023,
the Group had current borrowings of approximately
HK$156,356,000. These conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore,
the Group may not be able to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEMBBRRHME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

86

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, the
directors of the Company have been implementing various
measures as follows:

(1) the Group continues to improve the operating efficiency
by implementing measures to tighten cost controls
over various operating expenses in order to enhance
its profitability and to improve the cash flows from its
operations in future; and

(2)  The Group is actively considering to raise new capital
by carrying out fund raising activities including but not
limited to rights issue, placing of new shares and enter
into new bank loan facility.

Based on the Group's cash flow projections, taking into
account of effectiveness and feasibility of the above measures
covering a period of not less than twelve month from the end
of the reporting period prepared by the management, the
directors of the Company consider the Group would be able
to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due within the forecast period.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying value of the Group's assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any future liabilities that may
arise and to re-classify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis for accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs —
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3, “Reference to the
Conceptual Framework”

Amendments to HKAS 16, “Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use”

Amendments to HKAS 37, “Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract”

Amendments to HKFRSs, “Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020"

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Application of amendments to Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) - New

and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs, that have been issued but
are not yet effective, in these consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

an Investor its Associate or Joint
Venture’
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Insurance Contracts’
Insurance Contracts'?

Initial application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the 2020
Amendments”)?#

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Application of amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) - New
and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the
effective date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred
to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023
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3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control

is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its

returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control listed above. Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control over the
subsidiaries and ceases when the Group loses control of

the subsidiary.

Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired, disposed or de-consolidation of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit

balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

3.

90  China Ocean Group Development Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

FEREFHEGE)

(c)

REEE
REMBHRREBBARAREZET 2
ERNEMEB AR Z MR - B
TER  RIARRRESESIHE -

AIEIREHRITERED

. R2EREHRZEBHUES
SEHEETRER : R

s BENMBETEERNIMEEZRS
(2] 3 °

WEERBERBR Ll = ZEHIE R
ZHRBZRLRBE NEEGEH
AHEE R BENBIRE T - REERE
Sl PNGIEE S S PN
AR - WK M A PR IR AR b
N

HEHZMBRRZWMARRY A
AEEESEFRERREEAKRERX
EMBARIESIEE B L T AKRAIE

1B M E A2 W s % AR 5 R
BRARAEE A RIS - 8
AAZEAWGDEERBRAREE
B AN FrRR R s - BIE itk 5] B IEHE
P b o E A AL A R

HEBARZHERENEBBERT
(EHER ARG BEA R A g
BB

FIBERMAKRBEEXEBRRIRZRS
ZEBRRARMEENAE #&mE K
A FAXEBReRESNHFEAEARK 2
SRR EH o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent
of dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
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3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.

(c) Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

Shenzhen Yuheng Trade Management Co., Limited (/%
JIFEZ HEEBR AT, “Shenzhen Yuheng”), the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a series
of contractual arrangement (”Contractual Arrangements”)
with Jin Yu Tang (Shenzhen) Fishery Company Limited (J%
YT EEREFBR AT, "Jin Yu Tang”), wholly-owned
by Mr. Hong Maoji which enable Shenzhen Yuheng to:

- exercise effective financial and operational control
over Jin Yu Tang;

- exercise equity shareholders’ voting rights of Jin Yu
Tang;

- receive substantially all of the economic interest and
returns generated by Jin Yu Tang in consideration
for the business support and technical services
provided by Shenzhen Yuheng, at Shenzhen Yuheng’s
discretion;

- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
the entire equity interest in Jin Yu Tang from Mr.
Hong Maoji; and

- obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Jin
Yu Tang from Mr. Hong Maoiji as collateral security
to guarantee performance of all of the obligations
of Mr. Hong Maoji and Jin Yu Tang under the
Contractual Arrangements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

Pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations,
foreign investors are restricted from conducting far
ocean fishery services or holding equity interest in an
entity conducting such services in China. As a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with Jin Yu Tang,
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over Jin Yu Tang, and is considered to have control over
Jin Yu Tang. Consequently, Jin Yu Tang is considered
to be a subsidiary of the Group and the financial
statements of Jin Yu Tang are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

However, there are uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of existing and future
PRC laws and regulations which could affect the
Company’s ability to exercise control over Jin Yu Tang,
its right to receive substantially all of the economic
interest generated by Jin Yu Tang, and its ability to
consolidate the financial results of Jin Yu Tang into
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The
Company believes that, based on the legal opinion
obtained from the Company’s PRC legal counsel, the
Contractual Arrangements are legally binding and
enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and
regulations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023
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3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Interests in an associate

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of an entity but is not control over those
policies. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential
voting right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Interests in an associate (continued)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents
the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate; and (ii) the
Group’'s entire carrying amount of that associate
(including goodwill) and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquire and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether it measures the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation either at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Business combinations (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an
asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with
HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a charge to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured.
Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
In instances where the contingent consideration does
not fall within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

3. FESHBE(E)

(d)

(e)

EBEH(E)

BUET S TER 2 EMAARER
RUHE A B R ERER - KRR E
(BRA—HEEXRE)ATFEZHE
BREHRBBETENFIRLE
KoERRBRNEMEERE B
A o i s R B D R B R - RIS
BAENAE - RREENEEPA
R ERANBARTEE LG ER
FIRBIFE2BER T HIREEZE
B BHRELLE -

B MB®E
R B QR R E R AR RES
fRoABRERENERBIERA K
REBHE LR NEERD B EK
BB B AR -

IR BARMREMSHRERNE
RS EA M B A A 2R s A
B REBLVHREREEEESR
RAEMBRRERENFEE(BER
B) 2 REER - AIEKEARIREN
P SR ZALH B A BRI EETTRE
A, o

FESEEEBREEMRAT  2022-2023FH 97



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or
loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Computer software and Mobile app

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
on development activities, which involve the application
of research findings to a plan or design for the
production of new or substantially improved products
and processes, are capitalised if the product or process
is technically and commercially feasible and the Group
has sufficient resources to complete the development.
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads. Other development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred.
When the asset is available for use, the capitalised
development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment over their estimated useful lives from the
date on which they are available for use and after
taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item
of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis and depreciated separately. The principal annual
rates used are as follows:

2%

510 20%
20% to 33%
20% to 33%

Leasehold land

Building

Furniture and fixtures
Computer and office equipment

20% to 25%
7% to 20%
7% to 10%

Motor vehicles
Plant and machinery
Fishing vessels
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

(@

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.

Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both.

Investment property is initially recognized at cost,
including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition at cost, investment property is stated at
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Leasehold
land classified as finance lease commences amortization
from the time when the land interest becomes available
for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on buildings
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the depreciable amounts over the estimated useful lives.
The useful life, residual value and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected life
of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income and dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

102

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on financial assets (including loan
and interest receivables, other receivables, deposits
and cash and cash equivalents) measured at amortised
cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (i) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date: and (ii) lifetime ECLs: these
are ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables and loan and interest receivables using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs
based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12 months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 180
days past due.

(i)

(i)

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred
when: (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security
(if any is held); or the financial asset is more than
1 year past due.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
assets have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reoganisation.

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

3. FXESHEBEE)
SWMIAE)
CHEERE(E)

AEERARBBIBOR L ERMEER
EREERBREZEEM-

()

FESEEEBREEMRAT  2022-2023FH

(i)

(ii)

BHZTEE

ETIERT REERSED
BEEAE  (NERATKAIEEER
£ EEE R ERIERER (1
BBE)ETBZER TRALE
BEXNEEEER  EmE
EBREE1F -

FERETMEE
ERMEEE-—BINEEH(Y
ZERMEEMLITRERERER
RAFFE)EERFHREER
BE-2REECHBREEREN
EEEERAR T IIFEFHAEE
B -

(@) BITAHBERANERY
TR & -

(b) EREH(MENKARE
)

(0 ERAZERARBRE
KAV BREZ RHEXA
HmEmmMEERAEHE
FARRTEERBZER:
B

(d) fEFRA M AT BEfE AR E =X
HAb R 554 -

105



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.

(j) Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

(i) ~ Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over 5 year past due,
whichever occur sooner. Financial assets written-
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

(iv)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
mEMBRERKE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

(iv)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

J Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, corporate bonds and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments (continued)
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

On derecognition of financial assets at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only
when, the Group’s obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part
as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability,
the equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured at their
fair value on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the
equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value
of the financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted into ordinary
shares at the option of the holder, where the number
of shares to be issued is fixed, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments, i.e. they contain both
a liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value based on
the future interest (if any) and principal payments,
discounted at the prevailing market rate of interest for
similar non-convertible instruments. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option as
the equity component. Transaction costs associated
with the issuance of the convertible bonds are allocated
to the liability and equity components in proportion to
the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. Interest expense recognised in profit or
loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. The equity component is not
remeasured and is recognised in the convertible bonds
related reserve until either the bonds are converted or
redeemed.

If the convertible bonds are converted, the convertible
bonds related reserve, together with the carrying
amount of the liability component at the time of
conversion, would be transferred to share capital and
share premium as consideration for the shares issued. If
the convertible bonds are redeemed, the corresponding
reserve would be released and transferred directly to
retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

(m)

Cash and Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise bank
deposits with original maturity with three months,
cash at banks, and short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.

Revenue from contract with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

Revenues from sale of merchandises in supply
chain management and ocean fishing business

Revenue from sales of merchandises in supply chain
management and ocean fishing business are recognised
at a point in time when control of the goods has been
transferred, being when the goods have been delivered
to the customers. Following delivery, the customer has
full discretion over the manner of distribution and price
to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when
on selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence
and loss in relation to the goods. A receivable is
recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered
to the customers as this represents the point in
time at which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3.

112

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets with finite useful
live to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. EFEEHBE#A)
(m) Revenue from contract with customers (continued) (m) BEEEHz2W=(E)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and YE BERZEHEUAREHEELE (B
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see the BN ZHE (R LXBREEZE
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above) FBE)(E)
(continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is WAt EE(KIREEESM) 2K
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the BeRERNEEREE IleBEE
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced ReEESEMN)REERZHEITKES
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or BB REEIEEE B EENEER
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated PEAEUNTGEEEXRLHICEER
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the E AREghR—(EANNREES
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of BURAB(BEE EEZARSE
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate EBEMNPEEESTDEEEEN
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that RAE)BEZARSELEMN 2 RE
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the 2R -NOIREEER REBES
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the ST 53 BL DARL A (AT B 2 (M B ) B9
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying BREE HRERZEMNR—HRSESE
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the BAUSEBEEEZRBEEMGLA S E
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying ZHEHMEE - EERAETERLER
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of REAFEREEXRA(INAIFE) &
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced CREBEWNABE)REZHR Z2&S
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal B-ERTHRZEEEZREBERSE
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and BB DEEZEMS —HRSEE
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would Bz HihEE - BEEEIRNER
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated TR -

pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, mEBBLREEE MEE(ERE
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group EEBM—ERSEEEN) KA
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its Bz EEARE G kE £
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 2 M e 2 REE M EARR
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that E(GBReELESEUN—HREELES
would have been determined had no impairment loss iz ) 3 R 0 3B 1T F 2 W SRR (BB 15 1
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of ETE 2 REE  REEERERRE
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is R °

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in the currency of
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denomi nated in foreign currenc ies are recognis ed in
the statement of profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss except for those arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised directly in
equity, in which cases, the gains or losses are also
recognised directly in equity.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

The results and financial position of all the Group’s
entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o Assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented and, where
applicable, goodwill and fair value adjustments
on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
which are to be treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation, are translated at the
closing rate at the end of the reporting period.

o Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rate.

o All resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

o On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2023
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases and of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straightline basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable after the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accertion and lease payment.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever the lease term has changed or
there is a change in the assessment of exercise of
a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Lease for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lease, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and such
costs are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement scheme for the staff in Hong
Kong are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited
by those employees who leave the scheme prior the
contributions are vested fully in those employees. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined contribution plans (continued)

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the PRC,
contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes for the Group’s PRC staff are made to the
relevant government authorities in the PRC, which are
calculated on certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the
PRC. These contributions are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group's employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services
in exchange for shares or rights over shares. The cost
of such transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the grant date. The fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The
fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton
model, taking into account the terms and conditions
of the transactions, other than conditions linked to
the price of the shares of the Company (“market
conditions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the years in which the vesting conditions are to be
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award (“vesting
date”). During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for the
year of the review, with a corresponding adjustment to
the reserve within equity.

3. FESHBE(E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)
Equity-settled transactions (continued)

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, an additional expense is recognised for any
increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the
modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled before the
vesting date, it is treated as if it had vested on the date
of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a
new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described above.

Share-based payment transactions in which the
Company grants share options to subsidiaries
‘'employees are accounted for as an increase in value
of investment in subsidiaries in the Company ’s
statement of financial position which is eliminated on
consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

122

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the
results for the year as adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, any deferred tax arising from
initial recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not
recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, tax
losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investment in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as provision is at the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value is material).

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control of the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (continued)
(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
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3.

126

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical judgements made in applying accounting
policies
Ownership of motor vehicles

Certain motor vehicles of the Group are registered in
the name of independent third parties, which hold
the motor vehicles on behalf of the Group under trust
arrangement. In the opinion of the directors, the trust
arrangement is sufficient to create valid trusts under
the law of Hong Kong that the Group is the beneficial
owner of the motor vehicles. Therefore, the Group has
accounted for these motor vehicles as property, plant
and equipment of the Group.

Key sources of estimate uncertainty
Impairment of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of
receivables based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The management determines whether the Group’s
property, plant and equipment are impaired where
an indication of impairment exists. This requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the property,
plant and equipment, which is equal to the higher
of net selling price or the value in use. Estimating
the value in use requires the management to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
property, plant and equipment and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Any impairment will be
charged to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimate uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of contingent consideration payable

The fair value of contingent consideration payable was
determined by using valuation techniques as the date
of acquisition and the end of each financial reporting
period. The Group uses its judgement to select a
method and make assumptions, include estimating
future cash flows from the acquired business and/ or
post-acquisition performance of the acquired businesses
and fair value of the Company’s shares, which are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end
of each reporting period. Changes in assumption used
could materially affect the fair value of these balances
and as a result affect the Group’s financial condition
and results of operation.

Going concern

The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the Board of the
Company, at the end of the reporting period, about
the future outcome of events or conditions, which
are inherently uncertain. The Board of the Company
considers that the Group has the capabilities to
continue as a going concern and the major events
and conditions, which may give rise to business risks,
that individually or collectively may cast doubt upon
the going concern assumption and related mitigating
measures taken by management are set out in note 2.

4,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by individual companies,
which are organised by a mixture of both business lines and
geographical locations. In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Group's
chief operating decision makers, who are the directors of
the Company, for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following reporting segments. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the following reporting segments:

(a)

Supply chain management segment which provides
services involving the planning and implementation of
an integrated solution for the effective flow of business,
logistic, information and funds;

Ocean fishing segment which provides fishing and
catching business in open sea beyond the coastal
region.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's chief operating decision makers monitor
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reporting segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all allocated assets with the
exception of interest in a associate and other corporate
assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables attributable to the sales/service activities of the
individual segment.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reporting
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. However, assistance
provided by one segment to another, including sharing
of assets and technical know-how, is not measured.

Information regarding the Group’s reporting segments
as provided to the Group's chief operating decision
makers for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 is set out below.

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

7 REFR

AEBEREB OB —EZEE DB
AR ARERERR AKECKENTZ
BYAEEERELERRA(RRAES)E
HERDERRRFEZEMARZ — 87
X 2FATHRED & - HEA GHERLE
7 BRARRK T 51 2 8D -

4\

- RESPERAEZESGEBATEDN
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HEMBBRRHME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 5. DEERE)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a) oH#%EE - BEREE(E)
Supply chain
management Ocean fishing
services business business Consolidated
REREBREER BHERER &4a
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEZZE ZECC Z§-zf ZECC ZEZZE CZECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETTL BT BETR BYETT BETT
Segment revenue APhE
Sale of goods to external customers MSEFHESR 225,855 298,744 - - 225,855 298,744
225,855 298,744 - - 225,855 298,744
Segment results THEE 1470 (446,390) (13,914) (185,418) (6,444) (631,808)
Unallocated income EPERA 9% 2153
Unallocated expenses AAREX (43,667) (27,553)
Loss for the year from EREE (50,015 (657,208)
Assets and liabilities BERSR
Seqment assets NHEE 629,234 691,938 292,033 311,899 921,267 1,003,837
Unallocated assets, including interests in &2 EEE BERE
associates 15,649 23,633
Consolidated total assets GREEBR 936,916 1,027,470
Seqment labilities Nuek 107,123 158,805 133,013 133,420 240,196 292,25
Unallocated fiabilites AARER 207,981 208,943
Consolidated total liablities LAREEER 448177 501,168
Other segment information HtpAREn
Depreciation nE
~ Property, plant and equipment % BERGE 2 9 14,415 312 14,437 3220
- Right-of-use assets -FRREE - - - - - 190
Impairment loss; AEEE:
- Net impairment loss recognised for other — £ ENEF 2 HEFEED
receivables 38 - - - 35,916 - 35,916
- Net impairment loss (reversed)/ -ERERESE (BR) /B2
recognised for trade receivables et (1,097) 370,812 (537) 2412 (1,634) 373,025
- Net impairment loss (reversed)/ -EYERREHEL
recognised for loan and interest REEE(EE)/BRFE
receivables (822) 6,886 - - (822) 6,886
- Impairment loss on property, -N% BERABHESSE
plant and equipment - - - 2,125 - 2125
- Impairment loss on construction-in- ~ ~ER TR EEEE
progress - - - 25,927 - 25927
- Wite off of construction-in-progress  —Z 2 T2 - - - 165,940 - 165,940
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 5.

(b) Geographical information

()

The Group’s operations are primarily derived from
external customers located in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical
market and information about the non-current assets
by locations of assets:

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

TEER (E)
(b) HWEEFR

AREEBEIERENAEERFE
WINBES  FEBIIRIBE TS5
A S B 15 9D B 5 M M 9 AT A
RBRAEMERS IR EENE
Ko

Revenue from external Carrying amounts of
customers non-current assets
RENBEF W= FRBEENREE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=HE o F —E-=H —_E__—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT BT BT T
Hong Kong &5 - 42,765 2 2
PRC F 225,855 255,979 266,049 304,937
225,855 298,744 266,051 304,939
Information about major customers (0 FEEFZER
For the year ended 31 March 2023, two customers BHE_Z-_=F=ZA=Z+—HI#&F
(2022: two customers) that individually accounted for E AMBEF(ZE-_—_F X
over 10% of total revenue of the Group are set out PEAAMEAREBBUZEEBE10% @ 1]
below: 25T
2023 2022
—E_-C —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Customer A - Supply chain management & FEA —{ffEHEEIE RIS ER N/A'
services business TEA 24,007
Customer B - Supply chain management & FB — B E IBARFEER
services business 136,513 215,382
Customer C - Supply chain management &FC —{LEEEIERISERS
services business - 42,765
Customer D - Supply chain management EFED —fEHEE BRI ER
services business 69,896 -
206,409 258,147

! The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10%
of total revenue of the Group.

' MRS E AN EE RS R
10% A EEREf -
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 6.

132

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income during

s R H A

ZRER BN AN O W e LA A 2 D AT n

the year is as follows: T
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue from contracts with BEEAHWE
customers
Sale of goods from: KENTHEBEZEMIEE -
Supply chain management services e SR T IR AR S S
business 225,855 298,744
Ocean fishing business NSRS HECE - -
Revenue WA 225,855 298,744
Interest income FEHA 1 1
Interest income from other loan HibEZA B A - 2,568
Government subsidy income TR 8 B WA 3,547 4,927
Waiver of other payables B A BT FRIE - 6,963
Sundry income B A 718 447
Other income Habg A 4,266 14,906
Total revenue WAEF 230,121 313,650
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

7.

Loss before taxation is stated after charging (crediting):

BRBiAIE R

BRI A1 B 18 5 H0ER (BHA) THIBIRR IR

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Employee benefit expenses EEERAMEX
(including directors’ remuneration) (BIEEEMS)
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYH G 9,346 11,186
Pensions RINE 445 511
9,791 11,697
Finance costs & A
Corporate bond interest NEMEFF A 306 302
Interest for other borrowing HEmEEZFE 18,923 24,960
Interest for bank borrowing RITIBHEZFE 4,096 4,431
Lease interest expenses HEFMBSRAX - 3
23,325 29,696
Other items Hihg g
Auditor’s remuneration REE 2 3,530 1,500
Cost of goods sold BEEERKA 212,068 283,692
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment — % BB MR 14,437 3,220
— Right-of-use assets —REEE - 190
Exchange loss, net b 5 B 185 38 78
Impairment loss: EETE
— Net impairment loss (reversed)/ —EUWBRFURERBE D) R
recognised for trade receivables ] (1,634) 373,225
— Net impairment loss recognised for — E b RIS SR IB R B B 1B RE R T 5
other receivables - 35,916
— Net impairment loss (reversed)/ —EWE R ERT B
recognised for loan and interest EEBJER) HERFRE
receivables (822) 6,886
Property rental expenses in respect of  fEHIFAE Y XM ERE
short-term lease 2,316 2,279
Write off of/Impairment loss ME - BE R EME,REESE
on property, plant and equipment - 2,125
Impairment loss on construction-in- EEIRBERE
progress - 25,927
Write off of construction-in-progress EETIEMS - 165,940
Write off (included in administrative sl GGt ATTER Y ) :
expenses):
— Other receivables — H B YK - 111

TEEFEERRAERAT
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8.

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and

E=Me
AprREZEH R ERBEAEDT

receivable by the Company’s directors are as follows:

2023
ZEC=E
Salaries,  Contribution
allowances  to defined
Directors' Discretionary  and benefits  contribution
fees bonus in kind scheme Total
he 28 REMH
£k WEEL  REWNE  REHX it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI A¥TR BET T BETR BETR
Executive Directors YiEE
Mr. Liu Rongsheng BRELE 1,182 - - 18 1,200
Mr. Fan Guocheng SEEEE 840 - - - 840
M. Wei Qing e 822 - - 18 840
2,844 - - 36 2,880
Non-executive Directors FHUTES
Mr. Cai Haipeng oyt g
(appointed on 28 January 2022) (R-E-—&F-A-1)\BEZH) 180 - - - 180
M. Lui Chun Pong afftE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Cai Hairing BiggrE 180 - - - 180
600 - - - 600
Independent non-executive Directors BukyTES
Mr. Liu Qiang (appointed on 20 September 2021) Ef
(RZE_-SAA-THEER) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Li Cao ZRRE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John 2ZEEE
(appointed on 17 March 2020) (RZZ-ZF-F++EEZA) 120 - - - 120
360 - - - 360
3,804 - - 36 3,840

134 China Ocean Group Development Limited Annual Report 2022-2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
mEMBRERKE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEM&(4E)

2022
“E-CfF
Salaries,  Contribution
allowances to defined
Directors' ~ Discretionary  and benefits  contribution

fees bonus inkind scheme Total
g6 28 R
EELE WETL  REWAE  HEZEX @i

HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK§'000
BT BB BBTR BBTr BRBTn

Executive Directors YnEs
M. Liu Rongsheng ARt 1,182 ) H 18 1,200
Mr. Fan Guocheng EEEE 840 S ) 3] 840
Ms. Wei Qing RERL 822 8 M 18 840
2,844 ) () 36 2,880
Non-executive Directors ez
M. Lui Chun Pong afpEE 240 5] 5] () 240
Mr. Cai Haiming oy 30 5] 5] () 30
Mr. Cai Haipeng ZEhkis
(appointed on 28 January 2022) (RZBZZE-A-T/\BEZH) 3 5 5 () 3
302 3] 3 8] 302
Independent non-executive Directors BukyES
Mr. Lam Man Hing WXELE 56 ) ) 3] 56
M. Li Cao FRit 120 () () Y 120
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John i3y 120 5] 5] () 120
M. Liu Qiang Yk
(appointed on 20 September 2021) (RZZZ-FNAZTREZE) 64 5 3 H b4
360 5 ) ) 360
3,506 ) ) 36 3,542
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

136

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022. In addition, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join, or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour
of the directors of the Company that were entered into or
subsisted during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The directors are of the opinion that no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company or a connected
entity of a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9.

The five highest paid individuals during the year included
three directors (2022: three), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two
(2022: two) highest paid individuals, who are not directors,
are as follows:

EEMe(E

REE-Z_—FR_FT-_—_F=H=+—
HIEFE SESMEFT L NEL R B NE
TS o NEBEBRAEE
CTECCFRIECCF=A=+—HILHF
EREAESZHEAME  EAEBMNA
AEBESFREMAREB R IZE  iiEA
E BB

ARABIREBE-—E-_=F KT -__F=H
—t+—BULEFERTEIVRGFEUNESS
XHAZER EERHIEMZS -

BERA RAEERREE_T-_=FK
TR CF - A=+ —HLEFERNEME
B BMEFEARMEA—FEBARRE
BeEARG THREHARQRESEL
EEVAEEERETHEEERMEZE
R

FuESHEAL
FRAENSESHFATOESA(ZE ==
F:ZM)EE EMESFBEHIN EXUR
AW ERERMES c HpMi(Z T ==
M) EEREGZRFTAL EMMESFHE
T ¢

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BEET T BETIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4  ZEAE R EDFZ= 1,392 1,392
Pensions BRIRE 36 36
1,428 1,428
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
mEMBRERKE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued) 9. HUBRSFHFAL(E
The two (2022: two) highest paid individuals’ remuneration AL —F = —F : Wi &e & A TR FHN
falls within the following band: NFUATEE :

Number of employees

EEHE
2023 2022

—E=-= —E-_4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ%%1,000,0007T 2 2
No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the two RBEZE =R _F__F=A=+—
(2022: two) highest paid individuals as an inducement to join HLEFE AEBYEREMRAUZE
or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of TZF  MADBEEFATZAEAEE - (F
office for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. RERE AN AR £ B 370 H AR R B R ) 2

B SEABERA(E -

There was no arrangement under which any of the two RBEZE =R _F__F=A=+—
(2022: two) highest paid individuals waived or agreed to HIEFE MU(ZZ=2F : M) &a 5
waive any remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2023 ATBEIT I MEXRERETMME 2%
and 2022. B
INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. FIfEBiMAX
The Group's profits are taxed at different rates depending on IRE B R MR BB R B AR R
the country in which the profits arises. The key applicable tax BURRES S ABER - =25 ARH X0
rates are as below: ™~
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council RZE-—NF=ZA=Z+—H BFELEEH
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 B —EFRBUERT(B7H) GO E
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates ZX[EBIEZ ) 5| AFS TR A& o 15451
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and BN T N\F=ZAZTN\BESKAZE
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered 7 WHRBETE BREFESHARS - &5
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits T E B E R E B 2,000,0007T 2 3% A #5172
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and T %£8.25% =k Bt + 1 8 3@ /& #2,000,0007T
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The ZRMBIERER16.5%FFH - NEFEFERH
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered MRGNEE 2 SEERE RN SEERG—
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat ME16 5% At - 5 EREEER
rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of EBFB R Ty¥2 12,000,000 70 2 (H 5 E
the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the R M 1%8.25% y B K E - M A
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and 2,000,000/ 7T 2 il &t FE =R Tt i 7 #216.5%
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 IR H o
million.
The provision for the PRC enterprise income tax is based on HE-ZE-=F=A=+—HILFE FEH
the statutory tax rate of 25% on the estimated taxable profits EMEHEESRIBEBE FBITERA
determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules B BOER - IBIAFHERTUR M EREE R X
and regulations of the PRC for the year ended 31 March 25%ETHE(ZZF -4 : 25%)°

2023 (2022: 25%).
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Year ended 31 March 2023

HE

10.

TECCFZA=F+—HIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

According to the relevant law and regulations in PRC
Enterprises Income Tax — Section 27 sub-section 1, enterprises
engaged in catching fishery business can be exempted from
PRC Enterprises Income Tax. The Ministry of Agriculture of
the PRC issued the ocean fishing license to a subsidiary of the
Company which was expired on 31 March 2022. It will be
subject to PRC enterprise income tax thereafter.

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as there is no
estimated taxable profits determined in accordance with
relevant profits tax rules and regulations of Hong Kong for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

No Cambodia corporate income tax has been provided
as there is no estimated taxable profits determined in
accordance with relevant income tax rules and regulations of
Cambodia for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

No Mozambique Corporate income tax has been provided
as there is no estimated taxable profits determined in
accordance with relevant income tax rules and regulations
of Mozambique for the year ended 31 March 2023. (The
provision for the Mozambique corporate income tax is based
on the statutory tax rate of 32% on the estimated taxable
profits determined in accordance with the relevant income
tax rules and regulations of Mozambique for the year ended
31 March 2022. Tax benefit for Mozambique Investment Law
for fishing industry can enjoy 50% reduction on corporate
income tax rate.)

10.

FrisBipa (&
RIBHBERMERAARAR SER — 527
BREN KEMBAXNEEAR 2R
RESEMEY - PEREERERARE —
B QARG FME TR E A ER
RIB-—F=—A=+—HEH - LRBRFH
MBI B RAEH

HE-_T-_=F=A=+—HILFE 1B#E
EEBAT SRR EARE T - T ER
FogH B EMNEH( T -
7)o

HE_ZT-=f=A=+t—HIL5EZ RE
SRIBZEAR TS BUR B MR IR E WA T I
RN BANRERBECEMNSH(Z
T CF fE)e

HE_ZT-_=F=A=+t-—HItFE #E
BIEEE S ABMEHRRE AR ETH

EMEH e BE_T-_—_F=-A=+—8H1t
FE BERECZOEMSHEBEIRGETIE
AR AIR32%EEBREL  BRERET
BEERL T EEMESHRE RERET -
BERpRREREHBBECHEERANZ
BEMSHRMEZ50% M%)

2023 2022
—E=-= —EB-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax BIHAR 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEH
— current year —ARFE - -
PRC enterprise income tax PR RS
— current year —REE 8 177
Total income tax expenses FriSHif X 1858 8 177
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEMBHRRME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

10.

Income tax expenses for the year is reconciled to loss

FrisBipaxZ (&)

A2 PG HiR X SRR AT A5 IR Y AR A B

before taxation as follows: mrE
2023 2022
—E-=5F —=E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Loss before taxation PR BT B 18 (50,007) (657,031)
Notional tax calculated on profit before ZBR T AR A DA B B B =}
taxation, calculated at the rates BARN R
applicable to profits in countries MEAE 7 ZERIA
concerned (8,959) (156,933)
Non-deductible expenses NAIHRAIE ST H 5,699 147,928
Non-taxable revenue JEFE R W (1.445) (2,972)
Unrecognised tax losses iH R R 2 BB &R 3,895 6,405
Utilisation of previously AR SRl R R
unrecognised tax losses MIAEE (16) -
Share of results of an associate SE—REE AT EE 834 5,749
Income tax expenses FEBiZ 8 177
DIVIDENDS 11. BRE
The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend EFETEBRNAFERE(ZE=_Z
for the Year (2022: Nil). F 4o
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company
and the weighted average number of the Company’s ordinary
shares in issue during the year as follows:

BRER
BERERNNEERNRBEARFEE AR
EEBEBRIARFRARRRE D EITE B INHE
FHBRBFTENT

Loss attributable to owners of the
Company

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
RAEHEB AEILEE
(45,753) (653,280)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year for the
purposes of basic earnings per share

Number of shares

R#HEE
2023 2022
—EZ=F —E-=
BAUFTESRERZT 2
FADBITL @R
hnEF A% ER 6,064,478,097 5,118,149,330

Effect to dilutive potential ordinary share BEsE LRk w8

- Convertible bonds — AR E S 31,172,000 31,172,000
Weighted average number of ordinary AUGTEGREERN 2

shares in issue during the year for the FREFETLTRRD

purposes of diluted earnings per share IniEF AR B 6,095,650,097 5,149,321,330

No adjustment has been made to the basic and diluted loss
per share amounts attributable to owners of the Company
presented for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March
2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the convertible
bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
loss per share amounts presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
mEMBRERKE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% BERRE
Leasehold Computer
land and Furniture  and office Motor  Plant and Fishing
building ~ and fixtures  equipment vehicles  machinery vessels Total
AET#HR ElR
BF GAREE BOERK e HERES B st

HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
BRI BRI BETR ABTR ABTR ARTr A%Tr

Cost BA
At 1 April 2021 RZE--EmA-H 3471 39 174 3,186 2,410 25,879 35,159
Exchange realignment ERHEE 514 1 8 48 150 1,19 1917
At 31 March 2022 and RZB--F=f=1+-HRK

1 April 2022 “E-CENA-H 3,985 40 182 3,234 2,560 27,075 37,076
Additions AE - - 15 - - - 15
Transferred from construction-in- ~ 7ERTRE N ([iiE14)

progress (note 14) - - - - - 260,436 260,436
Exchange realignment B 5 - (3) (13) (16) (153) (1,958) (2,143)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F=B=t-8 3,985 3 184 3218 2,407 285,553 295,384

Accumulated depreciation and Rt TERHE

impairment
At 1 April 2021 R-B--ENA-H 3471 23 102 2,192 1,191 17,388 24,967
Depreciation FE - 12 30 276 393 2,509 3,220
Impairment loss HEEE - - 10 135 836 1,094 2,125
Exchange realignment L 514 1 4 3 90 759 1399
At 31 March 2022 and RZB--%=R=1-BR

1 April 2022 “E-CENA-H 3,985 36 146 3,234 2,560 21,750 317N
Depreciation nE - 4 18 - - 14,415 14,437
Exchange realignment [ER A% - $3) (1) (16) (153) (1,534) (1,717)
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=5=R=1-H 3,985 3 153 3218 2407 34,631 44,431
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2023 RZE-ZE=B=1-H - - 3 - - 250,922 250,953
At 31 March 2022 RZS-ZZ€-A=1+-H - 4 36 - - 5325 5,365
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13.

At 31 March 2023, 4 fishing vessels are pledged to a financial
institution for bank borrowings (note 20).

ME - BERREE)
MRZTB-Z=F=A=+—0 4E@HEmc
WIRFLA— S BERE WESETER
(M13£E20)°

14. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 14, TEIRE
2023 2022
—E-=5F —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Professional fishing vessels EXREEM

Opening book amount HAWIEREE 265,968 440,659
Additions INE 15,625 123
Write off s - (165,940)

Transferred to property, plant and EEEYE  BRE KRB (EE13)
equipment (note 13) (260,436) -
Impairment loss BEREE - (25,927)
Exchange realignment PE (21,157) 17,053
Closing book amount HIRBRMEE - 265,968

At 31 March 2022, among professional fishing vessels in
construction in progress, 4 of them are pledged to a financial
institution for bank borrowings (note 20).
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15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. REE QT 2R
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Cost of investment &K 41,666 41,666
Share of post-acquisition losses FE1G W B 18 1818 (26,477) (23,142)
Exchange realignment M 5, o (91) 1,538
At end of reporting period R EHIR 15,098 20,062

The associate is accounted for in the consolidation financial
statements using the equity method, details of which at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

BEQREABRDEINEEMBRERAA
B HR SR FIREII T ¢

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Proportion of registered
Name of associate operation Registered capital capital held by the Group Principal activities
ML,
BEQARER MR B AftER AKEFAGIMERLA FEFEH
Indirect
%
Shenzhen Hailat Frozen The PRC RMB100,000,000 35% Trading and retailing of
Seafood Co., Ltd.* frozen seafood
RITEDREEER  HE A E#100,000,0007T BEERTERREH
BRAA

* for identification purpose only.

Relationship with the associate

Shenzhen Hailat Frozen Seafood Co., Ltd is engaged in
trading and retailing of frozen seafood in PRC, which provide
an opportunity to the Group to expand its fishing business.

Fair value of investments

The above associate is a private company and there is no
qguoted market price available for the investments.

EBENRNER

YT ENREBERBRATDNPELSE
BENTELREN RAKBEAEBE
KRS -

REZLQVE
bR AE R ERE  BRELENS
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

15. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 15. REBE AR ZER (&)
Summarised financial information of Shenzhen Hailat Frozen AEEBEATRYTEWRERESERER
Seafood Co., Ltd, the associate of the Group, is set out NAEIZFHEERB M T  ZEERBER
below, which represents amounts shown in the associate’s IRRE BB RS ER RS QRIS
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs WERATSE WRAASERERSTEIE
and adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes ERAE  BREMBRRCANEERAF
including any differences in accounting policies and fair value BFE-
adjustments.
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TEBABEAABE_ST_=F=H
information of the associate as of 31 March 2023 and —t—HZUBERUREE S —_=F=
operating results for the year ended 31 March 2023: A=+—BIFEZREEE
2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Gross amount of the associate iR RN Pk
Total non-current assets ERBEELREE 154 2,990
Total current assets MEEERT 57,893 70,311
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERE (573) (622)
Total current liabilities R B ERRE (15,683) (16,704)
Equity R 41,791 55,975
Revenue W 2= 27,783 35,103
Loss for the year FNEE (14,184) (65,704)
Other comprehensive income HEt2EKA - -
Total comprehensive expense 2HEHRAXEE (14,184) (65,704)
Dividends received from the associates B U H & A R AR B - -
Reconciled to the group’s interests in the  ZANEEREEE A7) 2 R EEE

associate
Gross amounts of net assets of the GE AR EEFELE

associate 41,791 55,975
Group's effective interest rEBEZERER 35% 35%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate ZN£ @D {FEi4 A R B E FE 14,627 19,591
Goodwill [EES 471 471
Carrying amount in the consolidated FAaMB®REREME

financial statements 15,098 20,062
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
mEMBRERKE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. FEU AR 7R 2 H fth FE LUK
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bifat BET T BETIT
Trade receivables from third BHE=SFHEKERR
parties 831,605 830,685
Less: loss allowance B BB R (if) (530,951) (560,007)
Net trade receivables JEUEE FOFE (i) 300,654 270,678
Other receivables HibEWRIE
Prepayments and deposits TEfIRIB ML ® 40,840 35,885
Advance payment to suppliers ) £ FE 7 M5 RROR (iii) 355,944 451,030
Other receivables HAb RIS 6,614 10,809
403,398 497,724
Less: loss allowance A IR (51,727) (50,824)
Net other receivables H R FORE 351,671 446,900
Less: non-current portion of W BRRIEREE 2
prepayment and deposit RS (35,554) (35,554)
Current portion of net other receivables & Ut BRZUEE 2 R EHEE 9 316,117 411,346
616,771 682,024
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

146

(@

(i)

16. FEWRRM R HM R (&)

Aging of trade receivables (i) FERERRZERE
The Group grants credit term ranging from 30 days to MHEREERBES LG FHEE
90 days to its customers upon the delivery of products Bms  AEERINEYSHIRHRS
or when the services are rendered and invoices are WEEHEREGE THEFP30HE90H
issued under supply chain management services FEER -REEEHMEY 2 EKER
business and ocean fishing business. The aging of trade (HRBERER) 2 BRI T -
receivables (net of loss allowances) based on invoice
date is as follows:
2023 2022
—EI=H T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Less than 90 days 90HLAT 3,539 42,732
91 - 180 days 912180H 15,530 11,309
181 — 270 days 181£270H 32,228 -
271 - 365 days 2712365H 47,162 34,051
Over 1 year —FAE 202,195 182,586
300,654 270,678
Loss allowance for trade receivables (i) FEWRERRZHERE
2023 2022
—=E=-= B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At beginning of reporting period Rk EE 560,007 181,205
Net impairment loss (reversed)/ BEEE(BE) ERFRE
recognised (1,634) 373,225
Exchange realignment fE H R (27.,422) 5,577
At end of reporting period RBEHR 530,951 560,007
Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance REERNEKBRFEHRBERTELY

are debtors with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$304,822,000 (2022: approximately HK$238,426,000),
which were past due at the end of the reporting period
but no provision for loss allowances has been made as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the directors believe that the amounts are fully
recoverable.
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

17.

(iii) Advance payment to suppliers

The amounts represented payments made in advance to

suppliers for purchase of goods.

LOAN RECEIVABLES AND LOAN INTEREST

RECEIVABLES

16.

17.

e W Bl R B Lt R WURR (45

(iii) EEEEHRNFR

ZAREL B E M AR 2R

I8 o

Rl ER K ERERFS

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Other loan Ha &K 36,364 39,506
Accrued interest receivables FE U FE T I B 122 2,312
36,486 41,818
Loan to non-controlling shareholder FEIEAR AR R E K 6,454 7,013
Accrued interest receivables RS BT FI B 573 622
7,027 7,635
43,513 49,453

Impairment allowance on individual B EHER R E RS
assessment (29,102) (32,510)
14,411 16,943

Analysed as: paxilv= I

Non-current assets EMEEE - 13,544
Current assets MENEE 14,411 3,399
14,411 16,943

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding loans receivable to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management.

AEBEZREBZEH AR E N REER 75
K EERRRERE - EEEEHNRER

HikE 4
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

17. LOAN RECEIVABLES AND LOAN INTEREST 17. ERERRERERRE ()

RECEIVABLES (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s loan
receivables from other loan which arise from loan to
independent third party, is denominated in Renminbi. The
interest rate is 26.5% (2022: 26.5%) per annum.

The credit quality analysis of the loan receivables and loan
interest receivables is as follows:

HE_ZT-=%=A=+—0 &~&£@EEK
HWERNERETBYIE A MEE A
AREEE FAERE265%(ZFEF
26.5%)°

ERERRERERNENEEE ST
T

2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT

Neither past due nor impaired 3 #1380 BR R R (E
— Unsecured — IR - -
— Secured —FEH 7,027 7,635
Less than 1 month past due BHT 2 —EA - -
1 to 3 months past due B —Z=={EH - -
Over 3 months past due BHIERB =@ A 36,486 41,818
43,513 49,453
Impairment BER (29,102) (32,510)
14,411 16,943

Note: Represents the gross amount of individually impaired loans
receivable for which impairment loss has been provided
partially or in full as at year end date.

Receivable that was neither past due nor impaired related to
a non-controlling shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary for
whom there was no recent history of default, the other loan
is secured by a charge of the shareholdings in Lianyungang
Anni Ocean Fishing Co Ltd.

As at 31 March 2023, other loans receivable of
HK$43,513,000 was individually impaired. The amount of the
provision was HK$29,102,000 as at 31 March 2023. This was
related to an independent third party for whom the directors
are of the view that only a portion of the receivable was
expected to be recovered. As at 31 March 2023, no collateral
was held by the Group for the impaired loans receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 18. SBITHEHRIES
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprises: (a) RERBLEEYEE:
2023 2022
—Eg2-= —ET-
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERS 4,129 1,554
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on RTINS ERBEHRITERMEDE
daily bank deposit rates. BEEA B -
(b) Cash flow information — Reconciliation of (b) BEFEN-—BMEEBEYHERR
financing liabilities
Bank Bank QOther
borrowing borrowing borrowings Loan from Loan from Corporate Lease
-secured - unsecured -secured  Shareholder  Corporations bonds liabilities Total
HiTEE RIREE AR
-BER -BER -EER BRER MRER L% HEEE Rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT BETT BB BT BT BT BT BT
Financial liabilities R-Z--FRmA-A
as at 1 April 2021 MEEER 64,822 - 115,578 39,556 - 5530 197 225,683
Proceeds from borrowings B HETE - 1,304 438 - 2250 4551 - 8543
Repayment to borrowings BEE (2,037) (119 (11,979 (31,3%) - (5,530) - (51,021)
Interest paid BfIE - - (11,546) - - - 6] (11,549)
Capital element of lease RESNERTS
rentals period - - - - - - (197) (197)
Other changes: hae:
Interest expenses fERx - - 11,546 - - - 3 11,549
Exchange realignment B EE 2,400 - 1,007 - - - - 3407
Financing liabilities RZEZZFZA=1-A
as at 31 March 2022 LRERR 65,185 1,185 105,044 8,200 2,250 4551 - 186,415
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Year ended 31 March 2023

BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

(b) Cash flow information — Reconciliation of

financing liabilities (continued)

18. RITEHRRBEE(HE)
(b) BREREN-BMEABHRRE)

Bank Bank Other
borrowing borrowing  borrowings Loan from Loan from Corporate Lease
-secured - unsecured -secured  Shareholder  Corporations bonds liabilities Total
RiTEE RiTHE HfE
-FER -EHH -FER RRER PELES DRES HEaE &t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BT EBTR BT BT BRI BB BRI BB
Financing labilities as at RZZZZEMA-A
1 April 2022 MEEERE 65,185 1,185 105,044 8,200 2,250 4,551 - 186,415
Proceeds from horrowings B TR - 4,545 - - - - - 4,545
Repayment to borrowings [EEER (3,750) (219) (8,409) (5,655) - - - (18,033)
Interest paid EfHE (3.778) (23) (2339 - - (362) - (6,702)
Other changes: Hha:
Interest expenses HER 3718 m 2339 - - 306 - 6,646
Exchange realignment ER A% (5,185) (94) (1,324) - - - - (6,603)
Financing liabilties
as at 31 March 2023 56,250 5417 95,311 2,545 2,250 4,495 - 166,268
19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. ERERRAEMEMSRK
2023 2022
—EB-=F —=E-—
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
Kt et BT T BT
Trade payables FERTBR X (i) 23,189 30,173
Accruals ezt E A 71,046 45,098
Contract liabilities EHEE (ii) 9,265 9,265
Other tax payables E M ERIR 2,965 2,965
Due to directors FENESRIR 6,344 2,933
Due to shareholder FERHRR SR I8 250 250
Other payables H At FEI IR 89,917 136,852
202,976 227,536
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
(i) Aging of trade payables
At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of

mEMBRERME (F)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

19. ENERRREMESRE
() ENERRZER
R|BERR - BNEE B2 BARR

the trade payables based on invoice date is as follows: IR ¢
2023 2022
—E-= —F-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Less than 90 days 90R AT~ - -
91 — 180 days 912180H - -
181 — 270 days 1812270H - -
271 - 365 days 2712365H - -
Over 1 year S 23,189 30,173
23,189 30,173

(ii) Contract liabilities (i) EHEE

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2023 that was included in the contract liabilities
balance at the beginning of the year amounted to
HK$9,265,000 (2022: HK$2,133,000). The Group
expects to deliver the goods to satisfy the remaining
performance obligations of these contract liabilities
within one year or less.

20. BORROWINGS AND BANK LOANS

BE_Z-_=F=A=+—B1t#&
B REVFAGHEEEHRZEER
U %5 & 78 #59,265,000L( — T = —
& ¢ B#2,133,00070 ) ANEBEFEH
NER NBITZER—F A TEIE
ZENBEZEYVEL-

20. BERBRITER

2023 2022
—==-= —E-F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bitat BT T BT
Loan from financial institution SRIBEBER (i), (ir)
Bank borrowing — secured RITHEE - FEMA 56,250 65,185
Bank borrowing — unsecured RITHE — EEA 5,417 1,185
Other borrowing — secured Hibig e —HHEAR (v) 95,311 105,044
Loan from a shareholder BREREX (iif)
Other borrowing — unsecured Hib g E — mE R 2,545 8,200
Loan from corporation AEER (iv)
Other borrowing — unsecured HibgE — miE R 2,250 2,250
161,773 181,864
Less: current portion of borrowings & : B E RIRTTER ZRE D
and bank loans 161,773 (117,175)
Non-current portion of borrowing BENBEITERZIERE LD
and bank loans - 64,689
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REMBRERMEE

(&)

Year ended 31 March 2023

HE—

T o=F=A=1+—HILFE

20. BORROWINGS AND BANK LOANS (continued) 20. EERBITER(E
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BENEEESFENAT
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —F-—
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT
On demand or within 1 year BRERH1FA 161,773 117,175
After 1 and within 2 years 1B R2FN - 64,689
After 2 and within 3 years 2F 1B M3FR - -
161,773 181,864
Portion of loan that are due for repayment —F{2E|HEZEERS
after one year but contain a repayment REREEGTNE RIS
on demand clause (shown under current  (FIARBEE
liabilities) - -
Amount due for settlement within 12 + @A ARNDEEE 738
months (shown under current liabilities) (FIAREBEE) 161,773 117,175
The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are AEBEENERDENEERAREE-

152

denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

()

(ii)

The effective interest rate on the loan from financial
institution during the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately ranging from 4.03% to 28.40% per
annum (2022: approximately ranging from 6.68% to
21.28% per annum).

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s loan from financial
institution of approximately HK$151,561,000 were
secured by (i) personal guarantee by directors and a
shareholder of the Group and a subsidiary’s director,
(i) corporate guarantee by a subsidiary, (iii) pledged
4 vessels under property, plant and equipment of the
Group, and (iv) pledged shares of three subsidiaries.
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mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

20. BORROWINGS AND BANK LOANS (continued) 20. HERBITER(E
(i) Loan from shareholder was unsecured. The effective iy BEERABERBF HE_ZT-_=F=
interest rate on the loan from shareholder during the A=+—RHIEFE BRREFNERF
year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately 5.70% FENFR570%( =T = = F:
per annum (2022: 13.31%). 13.31%)°
(iv) Loan from corporation was interest-free and unsecured. (iv) RAIERARENERA-
(v)  The loan from financial institution — other borrowing- (ivy BHE-Z-_=F=A=+—8 $a#
secured included an amount of HK$88,400,000, which BER-HEHMEE-GERES—
was matured and overdue as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 7B #£88,400,000t( —E - — : B
HK$88,400,000). The Group had discussion with the 88,400,0007T ) M 1& 5% + W 2 B BR FN 280
lender and are arranging the renewal of the borrowing. H-AEEFEEFMNERERE
T
DEFERRED INCOME 21. EZEWA
2023 2022
—==-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$000
PRC government subsidy income AP B BT 6 B A BT T BT
Opening book amount HAYIEREE 60,044 58,850
Transfer to statement of #ARERER
comprehensive income (3,369) (985)
Exchange realignment I H R (4,776) 2,179
Closing book amount HRERE(E 51,899 60,044
Less: within one year B —FA (6,112) (985)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 45,787 59,059

During the year ended 2023 and 2022, the Group received
government subsidy from various PRC government authorities
in relation to support ocean fishing business.

rEBR_Z_=FR-_Z__FEEST
[ A B IS M B 4R B DA ST BB F TR 3
7}%0
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

22. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 22. ERRARE
Lianyungang
Anni
BEBZE
HK$'000
BETIT
(Note a)
(Kizta)
At 31 March 2021 N-EBE-_—F=A=+—H 14,629
Loss on change in fair value NEEZHEE (1,774)
At 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 R-B--F=ZA=+—-HK

—E-_=%=H=+—H 12,855

Analysed for reporting purposes as: TERE BB
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT
Current liabilities mENEE 12,855 -
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - 12,885
Total #ast 12,855 12,885
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22.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES
(continued)

Notes:

The initial considerations are HK$68,930,000 in cash upon
completion and principal amount of HK$16,209,440 of convertible
bonds in accordance with the sale and purchase agreement for the
acquisition of Lianyungang Annie Ocean Fishing Co., Ltd. in the year
end 31 March 2019.

The convertible bond (“CBI") with principal amount of
HK$16,209,440 was issued to the Vendors at completion date of
acquisition and the CB | had cancelled the fulfilment requirement of
the agreed guaranteed profits and revised the conversion condition
of the convertible bond in the relevant Period. The convertible
bond were pledged by the vendors to the Group as a security.
The consideration is measured at a fair value of approximately
HK12,855,000 at 31 March 2023 (2022:HK$12,855,000) and a no
fair value loss was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: gain HK$1,774,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the directors of the Company assessed
the carrying amount of the contingent consideration payable
approximate the fair value.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payables as at 31
March 2022 were measured by using a discounted rate of 14.1% per
annum, under black scholes model.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payables were
determined by the Directors with reference to the valuation at 31
March 2022 carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer.

Due to the effect of COVID-19, the relevant period has been
postponed, as such the amount of contingent consideration payables
has been reclassified as non-current liabilities as at 31 March 2022.

The value of the contingent consideration payables varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.The key input
and assumptions used by the valuer consisted of simulated revenue
of acquired company throughout the remaining relevant periods
and the fair value of the convertible bond as at 31 March 2023 and
2022.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the contingent consideration payables are based on the
management’s best estimate.

The fair value of contingent consideration payables is a level 3
recurring fair value measurement.
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mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

ENHARE(E

Wiz

RE-_Z-NE=ZA=Z+—"BREFEZHELE
RTFBMBERARZEERE RNTREVL
K18 BIR£ 5 168,930,0007T K A & 58 A Bl
16,209,4407T 7 FJ R &% -

N4 58 A #16,209,4407T 2 A # IR (E & ([ 7]
BRESE— )RR B REITTES A
BIRES —EREAHPHMEUE T HENFBRE
MEET B AR AT R IR (B 5 M B R S 14 - AR MR
BEHFHEHFERTAEEEAER RZ22==
FZR=+—H RERQFEFENABE
12,855,0007T ( == = —4F : #%#12,855,0007T )
FBE-_E-_=F-A=t-RALFEYTER
BETPHERATFEERB(ZEZ_F  REBE
1,774,0007C) ©

RZB-=F=A=+—B KRRAERTHE
NRAREBZEAEREAFERE-

RZZ-—F=A=+HENIARBZATF
BEREMRER AT EXE B R R EF14.1%5t

=
=

ENRAREBZATEDHEEF2RBISER
EEMEMR-_Z-_F=A=+—HETZMA

BEE-

RZB-—H=A=+—HB XHNBHRAREY
Z-MRTEHBE BULENIAREZZE
EEMDERIERDAR:

ERSAREZEERESE TZERR 2 TRE
M- HEMEANEIZHASBERBREE
REEF S BRBOEREEUARR T ==
FRZIFEZZF=-A=+—HUBRESFNQTF
(ER

AEHENRARERTEMAEZERRERTIER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

23. CORPORATE BONDS

23. DAEIES

The carrying amount of corporate bonds recognised at the R EHARERZ A AREFREETER
end of the reporting period was calculated as follows: T

Unsecured

corporate

bonds

F|IRFDTFESF

HK$'000

BT T

At 1 April 2021 R-ZZEZ_—FMHA—H 5,530

Redemption of corporate bonds EEARIES (5,530)
Principal value of the corporate bonds RYIF R RBIEFZ AR

on initial recognition 5,100

Direct transaction costs BEXZHHA (611)

4,489

Effective interest expenses BEERMEMAX 69

Interest paid EATFE (7)

At 31 March 2022 WR-ZZE-_—_F=R=+—H 4,551

Effective interest expenses ERFEMX 306

Interest paid ERFE (362)

At 31 March 2023 R-ZBZ=5F=A=+—~H 4,495
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

CORPORATE BONDS (continued) 23. REEHE)
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT
Current liabilities mENEE - -
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 4,495 4,551
Total BET 4,495 4,551

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group issued
unsecured corporate bond with aggregate principal amount
of HK$5,100,000, carrying interest at the rate of 6% per
annum payable yearly for a term of 8 years from the date of
issue of the bonds. The effective interest rate is 7.81% per
annum.

On initial recognition and subsequent measurements, the
Directors consider that the principal amount of corporate
bonds approximate to its fair value.

For the principal term of the 6% bond, the Group has the
right to redeem the outstanding principal amount at agreed
time before the optional redemption date, with at least 10
clear business days written notice (the”Redemption Right”),
but for the bondholder has no right to require the Company
to redeem the corporate bonds.

FESEEEBREEMRAT  2022-2023FH

BE-_ZE-_—_F=A=+—RHILFE K&
BB #TA® 8% R B 15,100,0007T 7 £
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. RZE
Note No. of shares HK$'000
et kg g BT
Authorised: EIE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 R-Z-—FMAF—H
March 2023, ordinary share of HK$0.01 —E-F=-A=t+—HEK
each “E-=F=A=+—8"
FREEEEC.0ITHEAER 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
At 1 April 2021, R-ZE-—-5HMA—H
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEBE.0ITHIEER 4,913,656,179 49,137
Shares issued upon conversion of debts in R =2~ —F+ B REHEKE1T (i)
October 2021 i) 190,000,000 1,900
Shares issued upon subscription in RZEZ—F— FARET (ii)
January 2022 pdiSh) 630,000,000 6,300
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022, R-ZE-Z§=A=1+—H
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R=—B--5@mA-AR:
BREERLL.NTHEER 5,733,656,179 57,337
Shares issued upon subscription in April  RZZ = —F N ARREETZ (iii)
2022 Bt 350,000,000 3,500
At 31 March 2023, ordinary shares of R-ZE-=f=F=+-—H"-
HK$0.01 each SREERE.ITHITER 6,083,656,179 60,837
Note: BisE -

@)

(ii)

(iii)

In October 2021, a total of 190,000,000 ordinary shares each
were issued by way of placing to an independent lender in
form of converting the loan to ordinary shares as settlement
at a price of HK$0.09 per share. The market value per share
at the completion date of the Placing was HK$0.057. The
Company raised approximately HK$19,000,000 before
expenses, for general working capital of the Group.

In January 2022, a total of 630,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were issued by way of placing to four
independent investors at a price of HK$0.09 per share.
The market value per share at the completion date of the
Placing was HK$0.183. The Company raised approximately
HK$63,000,000 before expenses, for general working capital
of the Group.

In April 2022, a total of 350,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each were issued by way of subscription to four
subscribers at HK$0.10 per subscription share. The market
value per share at the completion date of the subscription was
HK$0.184. The Company raised approximately HK$35,000,000
before expenses, for repayment of borrowings and general
working capital of the Group.

All shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the
existing shares in all respects.

()

(i)

(iii)

R=-ZF=-—F+H 4 3£190,000,0000% &
BREEBEEARNA—BBELERALE
TINBERERALBRETEECF
) EIRAFTRBE0.097T - P ECE 5T
BH - S MEAEK0.057T - AREE
£ & 4% 15190,000,0007T (A EHEI %)
BIEREB Y —REEES -

RZZEZ—F— A4 3£630,000,0008 =
REEE®I Tz EBREBERBEES
NAOBELIEEERTT BRABRBE
0.097L - RECETKHE Bl MEABE
0.1837L° AR A E &% 495 %63,000,000
T (RFHAXZ)  AEREB 2 —REEER

S
i

R-ZZT - —4F A 4 ££350,000,0005%
SREESE T ERREEBRE
FRMOZREERET RERNDE®RA
BREBEONT - RABTKAH SRM
BEAEBEISIT A RRBEELN B
35,000,000t (REHHEZ) - AEREE 2
HEEBER—HEEED-

FRBITHAARMDERERMNES T ES
FAREHL
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25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 18 October 2011. The purpose of the share
option scheme is to enable the directors of the Company, at
their discretion, to recognise and motivate the contribution
of the employees of the Group and to provide incentives
and help the Group in retaining its existing employees and
recruiting additional employees and to provide them with a
direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business
objectives of the Group.

Eligible participants include any employees, consultants,
suppliers or customers of the Company and its subsidiaries,
including any independent non-executive directors of the
Company. The Scheme became effective on 18 October 2011
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme, upon their
exercise may not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum number
of shares issuable to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period up to the date of grant, is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at that
date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting. As at 31 March 2023, 608,365,618 shares (2022:
573,365,618 shares) of the Company, representing 10%
(2022: 10%) of its issued capital, are available for issue under
the Scheme.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
in writing within 7 days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 per option in
total by the grantee. Any share option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during
a period to be notified by the board of directors to an eligible
participant but may not be exercised after the expiry of 10
years from the date of grant of the share option but subject
to the early termination of the Scheme.

25.
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Year ended 31 March 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEMBBRRHME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023

HE

25.

26.

TECCFZA=F+—HIEFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
board of directors, but may not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer
of the option, which must be a business day, (ii) the average
of the closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option,
(iii) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the ten business days immediately preceding the date of offer
of the option, and (iv) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares on the date of offer.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no share
options had been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Scheme. There were no share options outstanding
as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”). The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
in provident fund managed by independent trustee. Under
the MPF Scheme, the Group and each of the employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Legislation. Both the employer’s and the
employees’ monthly contributions are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC also participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes covering its PRC employees.
The schemes are administered by the relevant government
authorities which undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries.

During the year, the amount of employer’s contributions
made by the Group to the pensions was approximately
HK$445,000 (2022: HK$511,000).

25.

26.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

27. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax liabilities

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the
Group and movements thereon during the year:

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

27. EERIE

EERIAR
REBRANFEER BTN RE AR EE
BT

Deferred tax

liabilities

EEHRIEEE

HK$'000

BB T IT

At 1 April 2021 R-E-_—&FmmA—H 4,167
Exchange realignment M 54, 8 B 154
At 31 March 2022 RZZFBZZF=H=+—H 4,321
Exchange realignment HE 34, 3R B (344)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H 3,977

Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from

LT EBRELE CARBELERBEE

2023 2022
—EI=HF —F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Tax losses MIBEE 53,842 35,425
At end of the reporting period REEHR 53,842 35,425

At 31 March 2023, tax losses of HK$34,966,000 (2022:
HK$24,740,000) arising in Hong Kong have no expiry
date under current tax legislation. The tax losses of
HK$18,286,000 (2022: HK$8,085,000) arising in the PRC
can be used to set off against future taxable profits of the
respective subsidiaries for a maximum of 5 years. The tax
losses of HK$590,000 (2021: HK$1,124,000) arising in the
Cambodia and Mozambique is insignificant. The Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of these tax
losses and deductible temporary differences because it is
uncertain that future taxable profits will be available against
which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom.

NRZE-Z=F=A=+—08 BEBEETHE
EH ARBREAELEZREEEAR
H #£34,966,000T( — 2 — — F: B
24,740,000t ) 3¢ % = i BAMR o A B 2 A&
2 T 7E 548 78 #18,286,000T( — T — —
F 18,085,000 ) Al AR IKIES B A
ARZRAF 2 RRERB G - RRIFEK
B EY 2 FIEEEB%590,0007T( =
T ZF : FEH1,124,0007T ) WA E K o A
EEWARRZEH BB E R E5
BRECHIBEEE  ERAABEERASE
B S e AR RIERRA TR M ER

Rz o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEMBBRRHME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

27.

28.

162

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from
(continued)

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors, it is
probable that any undistributed profits are expected to be
retained in the PRC subsidiaries and not to be remitted out of
the PRC in the foreseeable future. The estimated withholding
tax effects on the distribution of retained profits of these
PRC subsidiaries were Nil (2022: Nil). In addition, no deferred
tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s associates
established in the PRC as the deferred tax impact on these
unremitted earnings was insignificant.

COMMITMENTS
(a)

Commitments under operating leases — the Group
as lessee

The Group leases certain premises under operating
lease commitments. Leases for premises are negotiated
for terms of 1 year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

S

Within one year

27.

28.

AR (4
DT ERELE CARBELERREE(F)

KRB =FR-_F-__F=A=+—H"
WERAREER R 2 HB AR Z KE
Az FERAFENRERELTIE  E 52
B AT RAR BRAE AT R 93 B i F FB HR AT A

FEBARRERTSELFE -ZEF
BB R B 2R & DR 2 (AT T
BET(ZT_2F:T) B BAREE
B B S 2 B A B 2 RIE AT 2 e
NEBHIH I EEH B EHAEEREEXR
T WWERZEREDR 2 BN ERIEL
FHIg o

IR

(a) REHARE-FEBEREBA

AEERBEEHOARERETY
¥ - MEBD T FE T TRERS

RIBEIR  AEERE AT HEHE S
FH A9 LA T B 1 B B O R R SR AR 40

BRI -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
1,023 67
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28. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b)

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Capital Commitments

- Capital contribution to investment in — RBATIKREZ HE

subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mEMBRERME (F)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

28. RIE(E

(b)

BAESE

2023
—EB-=F
HK$'000
BET T

196,515

2022
e

=

HK$'000
BT IT

213,498

In addition to the transactions/information

29. BBMLEXRS

BRZSHEEMBRRAEMCTIHE
ZR5 /BRI FR - A EEEER

disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, during the year, the Group had the

following transactions with related parties:

Related party relationship
BBk 5 B R

Key management personnel
(other than directors)
FEEBAS (EERIN

A shareholder
— A RE

Nature of transaction

REME

Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind and
contribution to defined
contribution schemes

o R LREMNRMAE
HRET &2 K

Interest expenses

MBFX

(a)

BRI TFHIRS ¢

2023
—g=-=

HK$'000

ok

792

687

2022

— g — —
S

HK$'000
BT

810

2,755
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEMBBRRHME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. RERSENEMIA
The Group has classified its financial assets in the following AEEDHEEHEESBR/UTER
categories:

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
R R AR
SIER=Z
SRMEE
Assets BE HK$'000
At 31 March 2023 R-EBE-=%5=H=+—H BETT
Trade and other receivables JE U BR SR K E A R IR 611,742
Loan receivables and loan interest receivables FE U E TR FE U E TR B 14,411
Bank balances and cash IRITESREIRS 4,129
630,282
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
Big: 3] N
HIER 2
ERMEE
Assets BE HK$'000
At 31 March 2022 RZEZ—F=A=+—H BT
Trade and other receivables JE LA B 51 K L A [ LA SR 717,256
Loan receivables and loan interest receivables U E T W E K F A 16,943
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEH MRS 1,554
735,753
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEMBHRRME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. RERSENEMIAE)
(continued)
The Group has classified its financial liabilities in the following RNEBDKESHEBESEANTER
categories:
Financial
liabilities at Financial
amortised liabilities at
cost FVPL
RS R A FEiRER
SRz  EAFEIER
cRBE ZeREE
Liabilities afE HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2023 R-B-_=F=R=+—H BT BETT
Trade and other payables FET AR S B Ath FE - 3R 202,976 -
Borrowings and bank loans BERBITER 161,773 -
Corporate bonds NEESH 4,495 _
Contingent consideration payables JEFS S ARAE - 12,855
Total At 369,244 12,855
Financial
liabilities at Financial
amortised liabilities at
cost FVPL
RE AR FEiRER
PRz ATFENER
TRB A ZE@AasE
Liabilities =L HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2022 RZE_—F=A=+—A1 BETT BT
Trade and other payables JE AT R SR e EL At HE AT 5% 227,536 -
Borrowings and bank loans EBEENMBITER 181,864 -
Corporate bonds NEMEH 4,551 -
Contingent consideration payables JES S ARAE - 12,855
Total At 413,951 12,855
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

31.

166

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
balances and cash, and borrowings. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance
for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial instruments such as loan receivables, trade and
other receivables and payables, which arise directly from its
business activities.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been
described in Note 30.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group
does not have any written risk management policies and
guidelines. However, the board of directors generally adopts
conservative strategies on the Group’s risk management and
limits the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum.

31.
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits is limited
because the counterparties are banks for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

Other receivables/loan and interest receivables

For loan and interest receivables, the Group’s management
manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their new
and existing customers before standard payment terms
and conditions are offered. The management assesses the
collateral and credit quality of each customer based on
customer’s background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also reviews from
time to time the financial position of the customers.

For all other instruments including other receivables, loan and
interest receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition. The Group have assessed and concluded
that the risk of default rate for the other instruments are
steadily based on the Group assessment of the financial
health of the counterparties.

The Group do not provide guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk.

31.
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Year ended 31 March 2023
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31.

TECCFZA=F+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31, £REKREEEERIEK(E
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERBR(E)
Trade receivables EKEZ K
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by AEBHNEERBIESBELZEZENERE
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than BEE ZRIXBEPREEFEMSITERN
the industry or country in which the customers operate and TE AN EAEERAENEFAEKR
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily Bl SeSZEREBEAED - NfE
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual iR FEWE SRBEAENSA% (2 - =
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 54% (2022: fF 1 55%)%99% (T —4F : 99%) D Al
55%) and 99% (2022: 99%) of the total trade receivables RAKREFBGAZREPEOAARE o
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables AEBUKRSGBHREZEBENTHETERYK
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated BSERNEBEEG ZBEABEEL
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit BE-mARAEEMNBENEERELRI K
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss RPTREFRFENEEEAFTEREEZR
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance A ER BN EERE T E— TR
based on past due status is not further distinguished between DAREBENTREFE -
the Group’s different customer bases.
The following table provides information about the Group’s TRREEABAEBRR S _=F K _F
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 TZF=A=+—HOEERRREKES
March 2023 and 2022: R EERN AR
Effective Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EEHEM
EiE=xR ERE#% EERE
Year ended 31 March 2023 % HK$'000 HK$°000
BE-Z-_=Ff=ZA=+—-HLFE % BETT BT
Current BN &R 30.82% 5,116 1,577
Less than 90 days past due BEJOOB AT 43.98% 27,724 12,194
91 — 180 days past due #HEI91HZ=180H 51.87% 66,954 34,726
181 — 270 days past due wHE181HZE270H 64.75% 133,803 86,641
271 - 365 days past due #HEI271HE365H - - -
Over 1 year past due Bl —F DA E 66.19% 598,008 395,813
831,605 530,951
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2022
BHE - Z-_—"F#=A=+—HIIFE

Current RS

Less than 90 days past due BHA90H AR

91 — 180 days past due #HEI91HZ=180H
181 — 270 days past due #HEI181HE270H
271 — 365 days past due #EP271HE365H
Over 1 year past due Bl —F A E

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

TREMREERRRBE(E

FERK(E)
EREZR(E)
Effective Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEEAE R
RS ARE4E5R R
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% BT BETT
29.20% 60,358 17,626
37.46% 18,083 6,774
53.98% 73,986 39,935
68% 265,329 180,423
76.34% 412,929 315,249

830,685 560,007

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over
the past years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which
the historic data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

BEHERXNERBEHRFNERBLRL
B o B T BT B LA R BRI SR SR BUE
HAR A BN - B AT B AR M A B %
& W B SR TE HR AR IR MV A AR LY DA 2 [
EEo
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REMBHRERME ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31.

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

TREBEEERRBE(E

FERR(E)
FRRWEZROERBREHEZSNT

2023 2022
—EZ=HF —F-—

HK$000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Balance 1 April RUA—B &8 560,007 181,205
Net impairment loss (reversed)/recognised  RfEEIB(BE @) HERF 5 (1,634) 373,225
Exchange realignment P 5, R (27,422) 5,577
Balance at 31 March R=A=+—RZ#&& 530,951 560,007

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk mainly
arises from the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on the bank balances and borrowings. However, the
management considers the Group’s exposure to such interest
rate risk is not significant as bank balances and borrowings
are all short-term in nature. No sensitivity analysis is prepared
as the fluctuation and impact is considered immaterial.

At 31 March 2023, it was estimated that a general increase
or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all loss
other variables held constant, would decrease or increase the
Group's profit/(loss) before taxation by HK$545,000 (2022:
HK$691,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  31. 2RiEMREEEERKE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk REE SR
Management of the Group aims at maintaining sufficient AEBEEERAESCHZIRITEG IR
level of bank balances and cash to finance the Group’s & BAEEZERELREFRERIEHES -
operations and expected expansion. The Group’s primary cash REFZ FERSEREIEAKSLH Y R
requirements include payments for operating expenses and BERNEE MEMREBANELEEFR
additions or upgrades of property, plant and equipment and YA FROE -
intangible assets.
The undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Group’s RERR REBZSMABB 2 RAMEBAE
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based A2 B BB R TR BN R BRI E A RELS
on the earliest date on which the Group is required to settle NemBECHFHAETE SamT :
the financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period is
summarised below:
2023
—E-=
Total
Total contractual Within After 1 and
carrying undiscounted 1 year or within Over 5
value  cash flow On demand 5 years years
BRRE  —FRm  —F#R

RELE BLREE RERE EER nE#

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000

BT B¥Trz B¥Tz B¥Trx B%Tx
Trade and other payables FE{ AR50 N H At FE A 3R 202,976 202,976 202,976 - -
Borrowings and bank loans Fi“&f&ﬁiéf%k 161,773 161,773 161,773 - -
Corporate bonds NEES 4,495 5,100 - - 5,100

369,244 369,849 364,749 - 5,100
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

(&)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31. £RiEMREEEERKE(E
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRER(E)
2022
—E-—
Total
Total  contractual Within  After 1 and
carrying undiscounted 1 year or within Over 5
value  cash flow On demand 5 years years
BRIAREE  —FAN —FBRR
RHEEE Rengs REKE hFER HF&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT A%t AT ¥t BT
Trade and other payables 1 BR R I EL At B < 3R 227,536 227,536 227,536 - -
Borrowings and bank loans %ié&iﬁﬁ‘ b 181,864 181,864 117,175 69,239 -
Corporate bonds NEES 4,551 4,551 4,551 - -
413,951 413,951 349,262 69,239 -
Exposure to currency risk B E
The following table details the Group's exposure at the TRV AEBRRERRER 2 H D HER
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from BENABGBUEBEERENES AN &
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency FIEMELAZEEREM - AETEY Bk
other than the functional currency of the entity to which SO FAHFEEA ZIHERBE 55K
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the e
exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using
the closing rate at the year end date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  31. ¢RiEAKMETEEERBKE(Z)
POLICIES (continued)
Exposure to currency risk (continued) ExEk(E)
2023 2022
—ECCE —ECC
United United
States States
(Expressed in Hong Kong thousand dollars) Dollars Metical Renminbi Dollars Metical Renminbi
EE- 347 EES40)

(AT IR it BEFER ARE I BERER ARE
Property, plant and equipment n% BERAE - 3 250,922 4 38 5323
Construction in progress EETR - - - - - 265,968
Trade and other receivables TR RE MY - 9,289 325,400 24791 102,318 379,047
Bank balances and cash BEBRE S 8 5 4,013 10 4 941
Trade and other payables AT RERERT (4,049) (1,408) (74,302) (3,748) (13%)  (130,550)
Borrowings [EE - - (159,523) - - (179,614
Tax payable R (3,065) (4,096) (428) (3,065) (4,096) (224)
Deferred income ETWA - - (51,899) - - (60,044)
Exposure arising from ERRAERBEEEER

recognised assets and liabilities (7,106) 3,821 294,183 17,992 96,868 280,847
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities KiEemEENSREs

No financial assets and financial liabilities were subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and
similar arrangements as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

R _=Fr_F-_—_F=ZA=+—8"
MESREERERABEAERE ATy
EE IR BERBUIZ
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32.

33.

TECCFZA=F+—HIEFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for shareholders. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments, including
payment of dividend to shareholders, return of capital to
shareholders or issue of new shares or sale of assets to
reduce debts. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following table presents the carrying value of financial
instruments measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period across the three levels of the fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of inputs used in the valuation techniques as
follows:

o Level 1 valuations: fair values measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date.

o Level 2 valuations: fair values measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

32.

33.
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Year ended 31 March 2023
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value at 31 March 2023.

33. AVEFEE

TREJAREER

[ —

—_—

BAFEFENEENEGE

F=A=+—H

Fair Value Measurement
LYEHE
Carrying
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BEfE E18 EE 38 @t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI BETT
Liabilities 8f
Contingent consideration payables ERSARE 12,855 - - 12,855 12,855
Total liablities AR 12,855 - - 12,855 12,855
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities TREVWAREBNR T - —_F=RA=+—H
that are measured at fair value at 31 March 2022. EAVERENEERAE
Fair Value Measurement
NYEiE
Carrying
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EAfE F16% EVE 3 a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTL BT BETT BRI BB
Liabilities 8f
Contingent consideration payables ERSARE 12,855 - - 12,855 12,855
Total liablities ek 12,855 - - 12,855 12,855
Note: Hiat:
There were no transfers between any levels during the year. REAFERN SR EIWEEE-

The detail on fair value measurement of the contingent consideration
payable was set out in Note 22.

N AREO R T EEFERNME22
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34.

176

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company on
19 May 2023, Penglide Seafood (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.* (I
B8 GFY|) AR EEATF) as the purchaser, and Shenzhen
Yuduoduo Ocean Technology Co. Ltd.* (RIITHRZZE%
BHE AR A F]) (an indirect subsidiary of the Company) as the
vendor entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement, pursuant
to which the purchaser has agreed to acquire, and the vendor
has agreed to sell, the 35% equity interest in Shenzhen
Yuduoduo Frozen Food Co., Ltd.* (&I % % R EE E H
A BR A7), for the consideration of HK$30,000,000.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
on 19 May 2023, Jin Yu Tang (Shenzhen) Fishery Group Co.,
Ltd* (RINITHEEERESBBRAE]) (a subsidiary of the
Company) as the purchaser and Ms. Pan Shuangjun and Mr.
Zhang Weiliang as the vendors entered into the supplemental
agreement, pursuant to which the purchaser and the vendors
have mutually agreed to cancel the Results Guarantee.

* The English translation of the company names are for
reference only. The official names of these companies are in
Chinese.

34,
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35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position of
the Company and the movements in its reserves are set out

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_ZF-A=Z+—BLEE

35. AQRZBMBIRIE

REBEEBARGH 2 WERTE  NABZH
Bt R MR EEBEIIIT

below:
2023 2022
—E-=5F =
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt BET T BT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB RRIZIEE 4,800 4,800
Current assets REEE
Other receivables E b JfE R 336 158
Due from subsidiaries FEU I B A R 5B 697,244 697,149
Bank balances and cash IRITHESR LIRS - 205
697,580 697,512
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings =P 90,945 96,600
Other payables E BT 85,505 80,479
Due to subsidiaries AR ENGIESE] 98,921 98,921
Contingent consideration payable S ARE 12,855 -
288,226 276,000
Net current assets REEEFE 409,354 421,512
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Corporate bond NalEH 4,495 4,551
Contingent consideration payables — JEfskAARE - 12,855
4,495 17,406
NET ASSETS EEFE 409,659 408,906
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R R s
Share capital A% 7N 24 60,837 57,337
Reserves i 35(a) 348,822 351,569
TOTAL EQUITY ERAEE 409,659 408,906

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 23 August 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Liu Rongsheng
BleRE
Chairman

Ey

ROCZE-=F N \AFT=AREETSHER
BT THUTEERKRER

Fan Guocheng

38 B 4
Director

EF
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a)

35. ADBZBBRRE(E

Reserves (a)
Share Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R EE AR ZiFE ait
Note (Note (i) (Note (i)
(In HK$'000) (NEBTRAEM) firzt (Hti) (W)
At 1 April 2021 RZE--FMA-A 1,465,879 594,707 (800,367) 1,260,219
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss ~ £REERERTEEELE
for the year - - (982,402) (982,402)
Transactions with owners HEEAETZRA
Contributions and distributions AERAKE
Issue of shares upon conversion of debtsin =B —F+PRERER
October 2021 and upon subscription in E R
January 2022 RAEETRN 240), (i) 13752 - - 1375
At 31 March 2022 RZE--F=A=t-H 1,539,631 594,707 (1,782,769) 351,569
Loss for the year and total comprehensive EREERER
income for the year Eailierctd - - (34,247) (34,247)
Issue of shares upon placing in April 2022 RS- EMARRERTRG 240 31,500 - - 31,500
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=£=f=t+-A 1,571,131 594,707 (1,817,016) 348,822
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a)

Reserves (continued)

Note:

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium represents the excess of the net
proceeds or consideration from issuance of the
Company’s shares over their par value.

Contributed surplus represents (i) the difference
between the nominal value of the aggregate share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued as consideration
pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation took place in
2001, (ii) the reduction of share premium and share
capital took place in November 2012 and May 2013
respectively.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the Company’s
contributed surplus is available for distribution to
shareholders subject to the requirements of the
Companies Act of Bermuda.

As at 31 March 2023, no reserves of the Company
were available for distribution to the equity holders
of the Company (2022: Nil) in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act of Bermuda.

mEMBEERME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023

He-_ZT-=F=ZA=+—HI&FE

35. ARQBZBBRRK(E

R (E)
e

(a)

i) BROEERBTARTABRNERZ
e FEXRERBEEEZ

oo

(i)  BARBEORE -ZT—FHETH
AEEBHEMTEEENRE AR ABRA
ZHEERFAREMETZARA
B EEZZRE: (VDRR-T—=
FTH+—AR-ZE-—=ZFRAETH
HIRURR 17 7 18 B2 R A AR o

BEEREATS AATNNHEAR
BUSETRE  HEETEREA
TEMT -

iy M-ZE-_=F=A=+—H BEAE
RIENRVERTE - ARANWEAHES
T ARARREFREAZRFHE (ZZ
ZZFE) e
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36. SUBSIDIARIES 36. MEAE
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at RZE-=F=ZA=Z+—8 ' ARFRIEEN
31 March 2023 are as follows: BARZFBWNT

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity

incorporation/ issued ordinary indirectly
registration and shares/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Company  Principal activities
ML/ BRTEER FAABEER
MEARER BRRLE Y HE/ AREL REGAL FEER
Business Ahead Management Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100%  Provision of administration service
BEERERDA 3 BEIT REEEBRE
China Ocean Life Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Inactive during the year
PEEFENRRARRT Bl BT RERERH
Golden Thai Marine Products Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100%  Provision of trading of seafood,
investment holding and securities
holding
SRBESEARAR Bl BT RUBERES REERRAEEES
Mindsim Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Inactive during the year
B BEIT REREEH
Jin Yu Tang (Shenzhen) The PRC RMB50,000,000 100%  Provision of supply chain management
Fishery Group Co. Limited* services, trading of seafood
MMEEEEEEEERAT i AE#50,000,0007T REEHERERRENEENES
Shenzhen Yuheng Trade Management Co., The PRC RMB500,000,000 100%  Provision of supply chain management
Limited* service, trading of seafood
MIFEBHERERAT RE  AR¥500,000,0007 RUEREERELEERE
Jin Yu Tang (Cambodia) Fishery Co., Ltd Cambodia US$10,000,000 100%  Provision of ocean fishing, however the
(Note a) operation commenced subsequent to
the year end
EEZRE(RBR)ERAT REE 10,000,000 7T REERFEE  ERFRE
(Hrzta) HREEH
Shenzhen Qisen Fishery Company Limited The PRC RMB100,000,000 70%  Provision of ocean fishing in
Mozambique
RFFAFERAF RE AR%100,000,0007C RUEAZRURIEERS
Stonechen Commercial - Mozambique MT5,000,000 100%  Provision of ocean fishing in
Produtos Da Pesca De Moma Limitada Mozambique
AR AR S EREERAR ERfR 5,000,000£ % RERERLROEFRE
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36. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mEMBEERME (&)

31 March 2023 are as follows: (continued)

Name of subsidiary
HWEARER

China Ocean Industrial Investment Holding
Limited
PEEFERRERNARAA

Lianyungang Anni Ocean Fishing Co Ltd

BEAZREAREERAF

Shenzhen Yuduoduo Ocean Technology Co.,
Limited*
AMITa%%EFRRERAT

Jin Yu Tang Ocean Aquatic (Shenzhen) Co.,
Limited*
ATEEZEFERERAR

Jin Yu Tang Aquaclture (Cambodia) Co.,
Limited*
EXEEE(FER)BRAR

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation
ML/
BEREEn

Hong Kong
R

The PRC

FE
The PRC
FE
The PRC
FE

Cambodia

BE

36. MIBATI(E)
RZEBEZ=F=A=+—8 ' AARTEMH

Year ended 31 March 2023

—CE-=F=A=1+—RHItEE

BARZHBOT (&)

Nominal value of Percentage of equity

issued ordinary indirectly
shares/ attributable
registered capital to the Company
BRTLER KA RERER
HE/ EMEXR REFDL
HKD10,000,000 100%
7110,000,00070
RMB30,000,000 65%
AR 30,000,0007C
RMB10,000,000 100%
AK10,000,0007C
RMB5,000,000 100%
AR 5,000,007
USD5,000 51%
5,000% 7T

Principal activities

IERH

Provision of supply chain management
service, trading of seafood

R ERBERREEERS

Provision of ocean fishing, however, the
operation commenced subsequent to
the year end

RUEETHS EREREARERR

Intangible assets holding

HREEVEE

Inactive during the year

AEREER

Inactive during the year

AERERT

* for identification purpose only

* EREE

FESEEEBREEMRAT  2022-2023FH
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Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F#=-A=+—H01LFE

36.
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SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 March 2023 are as follows: (continued)

Notes:

(@)  The registered capital is USD10,000,000 and paid up capital
is USD3,819,000 during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the reporting period or at anytime during both years.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Significant restrictions

Cash and bank balance of approximately HK$4,013,000
(2022: approximately HK$941,000) are held in the PRC and
are subject to local exchange control regulations. These
exchange control regulations provide for restrictions on
exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends.

36.
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MEBATE (&)
RZEBEZ=F=A=+—8 ARQRFEWN
BREZFABOT (&)

iz

(a) HE-_ZT-_—Fp-_T-_—_F=-—A=1+-—
HIFFE &4 A10,000,000E€ T X E
%R & 7"3,819,0003 7T °

B B8 2 AL I R o A R o A (B 4R JE ) ()
R BT TR B E 55 o

EERR LRI ARRIMBAR IR
FEAFTEXEABRAEHEEFEZE
ZHN -EFTRRINLEMMBABZFE
KL RmIBENITR

EPNS

e RI|ITEF L E4,013,000L(=ZF
T 941,000 ) R BB T E
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